
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Friday, 30 September 2022 
 
 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
will meet on 

Monday, 10 October 2022 
beginning at 

7:00 pm 
in the 

Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF 

 
 
TO: Councillor Cynthia Garton (Chair) 
 Councillor Janice Asman (Vice-Chair) 
  

Councillor Tim Bearder 
Councillor Ian Corben 
Councillor Richard Gomer 
Councillor Leigh Hadaway 
Councillor Keith House 
 

Councillor Dave Kinloch 
Councillor Rupert Kyrle 
Councillor Derek Pretty 
Councillor Bruce Tennent 
Councillor Jane Welsh 
 

 
Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298 

Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk. Please email 
Democratic.Services@eastleigh.gov.uk to register to speak 
before the meeting. 
 

 Kitty Budden, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 8266; Email: 
kitty.budden@eastleigh.gov.uk 

 
JOANNE CASSAR 

Executive Head of Governance 
 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and 
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to 
access committee papers. 
 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 16) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2022. 
 

4.   Public Participation  
 

5.   Chair's report  
 

6.   Local Area Manager's Report  
 

7.   Presentation on Planning Guidelines  
 

8.   Planning Application - Holly Tree Farm, Maddoxford Lane, Botley, Southampton, 
SO32 2DB (Pages 17 - 56) 
 
Outline planning application with all matters reserved (except for access) for the 
construction of up to 221 dwellings and a Scout hall, new access on to 
Maddoxford Lane; pedestrian accesses, emergency vehicle link, parking, 
drainage, pumping station, hard landscaping, soft landscaping, play areas, 
ecological enhancements and diversion of public right of way (Botley Footpath 
026/3/1) following the demolition of two dwellings and associated domestic 
outbuildings and stable block; demolition of car repair garage, sheds and cabins 
and clearance of scrap yard use. (O/22/92771) 
 

9.   Planning Application - Land North West of Winchester Road, Boorley Green, 
Hampshire, SO32 2BX (Pages 57 - 74) 
 
Proposed Deed of Variation to S106 legal agreement dated 16 June 2016 
associated with outline permission O/15/75953, as amended by X/19/84943, to 
amend the triggers for the completion of the Highways Works Agreement for the 
Shamblehurst Lane North Works and the Winchester Road/Bubb 
Lane/Snakemoor/Botley Road Roundabout Works to prior to the occupation of no 
more than 50 dwellings; and for completion of the Shamblehurst Lane North 
Works and Bus Access Restrictor Works to prior to the occupation of no more 
than 350 dwellings; and to add a trigger for the provision of an accessible 
Pedestrian and Cycle Route from Winchester Road to Shamblehurst Lane North 
prior to occupation of no more than 200 dwellings and a trigger for the completion 
of an on-site Bus, Pedestrian & Cycle Route prior to the occupation of no more 
than 350 dwellings. 
 

10.   Planning Application - 8 Chapel Close, West End, SO30 3FF (Pages 75 - 82) 

2



 

 
Conversion of utility and single storey rear extension to create attached annex, 
new porch and raised patio to the rear. (H/22/92920) 
 

11.   Planning Appeals  
 
The Legal Services Manager to report:- 
 
(a) that the following appeals have been lodged:- 
 

TURNPIKE WAY, HEDGE END, SO30 4RA (PN/21/91255) 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of the installation of 1no. 15m 
telecoms monopole to include wraparound cabinet at base and associated 
ancillary works. 
 
7 PARK VIEW, HEDGE END. SO30 4EP (T/22/92274) 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to carry out works to protected trees. 
 

(b) that the following appeals have been allowed:- 
 

11 FAIRFAX MEWS, THORNHILL, SOUTHAMPTON, SO19 6DY 
(H/21/91977) 
 
Appeal against the council’s refusal of infill ground floor extension with side 
wrap-around, and 1st floor addition over ground floor extension and 
existing garage. 

 
(c) that the following appeals have been dismissed:- 
 

LAND SOUTH OF SNAKEMOOR LANE, EAST OF WINCHESTER ROAD 
(DENHAMS CORNER) (F/20/87925) 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of five adaptable dwellings for 
disabled persons/inter-generational families with widened vehicular access 
from Snakemoor Lane, new pedestrian access from Winchester Road, with 
land available for strategic Denhams Corner roundabout improvement 
scheme. 
 
TURNPIKE WAY, HEDGE END, SO30 4RA (PN/21/91255) 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of the installation of 1no. 15m 
telecoms monopole to include wraparound cabinet at base and associated 
ancillary works. 
 
LAND TO THE REAR OF SOVEREIGN DRIVE AND PRECOSA ROAD, 
BOTLEY (F/20/87625) 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of the construction of 106 no. 
dwellings, new access from Sovereign Drive, associated landscaping and 
drainage works following demolition of No. 47 Sovereign Drive and Hats 
Copse House (net 104 no. dwellings). 

3



 

 

 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Monday, 21 November 2022 at 7:00 pm 

In the Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's 
Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF 

 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  
 

4

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1 
 

 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 13 June 2022  (7:00 pm – 10:00 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Garton (Chair); Councillors Corben, Gomer, Hadaway, House, 
Kinloch, Kyrle, Pretty and Tennent 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Asman, Bearder 
and Welsh 
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

139. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Councillor Hadaway declared a personal interest in agenda item 13 as he 
lives in Goodlands Vale but not in an area impacted by the Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO). 
 
Councillor House declared a personal interest in agenda item 11 as he 
lived close to the site.  He left the room and did not take part in the item. 
 

140. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 March 2022 be confirmed 
and signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

141. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
A statement was read from a local resident who was concerned about 
trees with Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs) being lopped on the corner of 
Heath House Lane and Heath House Close.  This site was located in the 
Bursledon, Hamble and Hound Local Area and the statement would be 
passed to their Local Area Manager to take forward. 
 

142. CHAIR'S REPORT 
 
The Chair welcomed the new Councillors, Cllr Leigh Hadaway and Cllr 
Jane Welsh to the Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area 
Committee.  The Chair hoped that they enjoyed their time as ward 
Councillors and looked forward to working with them for the benefit of the 
local communities. 
 

5

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

 

The Chair also extended the Committee’s thanks to Lucy Jurd and 
Margaret Allingham for their service to their communities as members of 
the Local Area Committee and wished them every success and happiness 
in the future. 
 
The Chair gave the following updates: 
 
Hedge End Unwrapped 
 

It had been a pleasure to attend Hedge End Unwrapped the previous 
weekend and see all the amazing performances.  It was wonderful to see 
all the happy faces enjoying the sunshine and festivities at Greta Park. 
The Chair looked forward to this becoming an annual tradition for Hedge 
End. 
 
Boorley Park 
 
The Chair was pleased to confirm that the Community Centre and Sports 
Pavilion and pitches at Boorley Park had now transferred to the Council.  
The Council were working closely with Botley Parish Council to ensure a 
smooth transfer to the Parish and the swift opening of the facilities later 
this year.  Staff at the Council continue to work hard to ensure the 
remaining community facilities are brought up to an acceptable standard 
and can be transferred to public ownership so that residents and visitors 
can enjoy them as soon as possible.  
 
Hatch Farm 
 
If you had recently visited The Willows development at Hatch Farm, you 
would have seen the wheeled sports area starting to take shape.  Although 
the weather has hampered the construction of the sports area, this exciting 
new facility should be completed in July.  The Chair looked forward to 
seeing the equipment being enjoyed by younger residents. 
 

143. LOCAL AREA MANAGER'S REPORT 
 
The Local Area Manager gave the following report: 
 
Community and Youth Grants 
 

Following the approval of the community and youth grants by the 
Committee in March, the Local Area Manager was pleased to report that 
all recipients had now received the grants. The grants were awarded to 
local organisations to support the community work they provide for the 
benefit of local residents. 
 
Recipients of the Community grants were: 
Hampshire Spirit Horse Rescue 
Botley in Bloom 
Hedge End Breathe Easy and Friday Fitness Group 

6



3 
 

 

Wildern Leisure Centre 
Multi Sports Club 
The D@RT Centre, Wildern School 
Music Fun Factory 
West End Local History Society 
 
Youth grants had been awarded to: 
 
Hunter Explorer Scout Unit 
23rd Itchen North Scout Group 
Hedge End Town Council 
13th Itchen North Scout Group 
The D@rt Centre, Wildern School 
31st Itchen North (Amazon) Sea Scouts 
1st Hedge End Guides 
Wildern Opportunity Group 
Wellstead, St. James and Botley Primary Schools 
Berrywood Primary School 
 

144. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES 
 
The Principal Planning Officer gave a short presentation on guidelines that 
had to be taken into account when determining planning applications; in 
particular the issues that could, and could not, be taken into account.  This 
was set against the broader policy framework. 
 

145. PLANNING APPLICATION - 88 HINDMARCH CRESCENT, HEDGE END, 
SO30 0AP - F/22/92879 
 
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Head of Planning 
and Economy (Agenda item 8) concerning an application for the change of 
use to amenity land adjacent to 88 Hindmarch Crescent to be used as 
domestic garden.  Removal of existing fencing, to erect 1m high railings.  
Retention of hard surfaced extension to parking area (F/22/92879). 
 
The Committee was advised that an additional consultation response had 
been received from Hedge End Town Council – no objection. 
 
It was proposed and seconded that condition 4 be reworded as follows: 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no 
development permitted by Class E of Part 1, Schedule 2 and Class A of 
Part 2, Schedule 2 of the Order shall be carried out without the prior 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority.  Reason: In the interests of 
safeguarding the visual amenities of the streetscene. 
 
RESOLVED - 
 

7



4 
 

 

That permission be granted subject to the conditions set out in the 
agenda, with condition 4 amended as above. 
 
[NOTES: (A) The owner of 88 Hindmarch Crescent spoke in support of the 
appplication citing that he had not been aware that it was amenity land, the 
hardstanding had been extended for his wife who was disabled to access 
her car safely and that the fencing had been chosen to reflect what was 
present throughout the estate.  He informed the Committee that he was 
happy with the choice of replacement fencing; (B) The Committee wanted 
to ensure that a situation where amenity land was sold to a householder 
did not happen again and wanted to ensure that the S106 agreements 
prevented this but accepted that given the history of the site the resident 
had done the right thing. The open railings would be a vast improvement 
on the current fencing for visual amenity and wildlife corridors.] 
 

146. PLANNING APPLICATION - 8 PRECOSA ROAD, BOTLEY, SO30 2NX - 
H/22/92946 
 
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Head of Planning 
and Economy (Agenda item 9) concerning an application for a two storey 
side extension after removal or existing car port (Re-submission) 
(H/22/92946). 
 
Councillors were advised that pre-liminary bat assessments cannot be 
conditioned and the potential impact on bats needs to be established prior 
to determination of a planning application. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Committee resolved to overturn the recommendation of 
refusal of planning permission and that subject to the submission 
and consideration of a preliminary bat assessment and amended 
plans to resolve Hampshire Highways’ objection to the proposed 
parking provisions on site then to delegate back to the Executive 
Head for Planning and Economy, Chair, Vice-Chair and Local Ward 
Members for permission to be granted subject to conditions.   
 
The Committee’s decision to overturn the recommendation was on the 
basis that they considered that with the submission of a satisfactory bat 
survey and amended plans to address HCC Highway’s objection, a 2-
storey side extension could be satisfactorily accommodated on site without 
an adverse impact on the streetscene or the character of the area. 
 
(NOTES: (A) the applicant spoke in support of the application to 
accommodate her growing family without having to move; there had been 
no objections from neighbours and the proposed scheme was virtually 
identical to those at 4 and 6 Precosa Road.  The staggered effect of the 
properties meant that the scheme would not result in a terraced effect.  
The applicant was unaware of the objection from Hampshire Highways but 
was more than happy to set the extension back and reorient the parking 

8



5 
 

 

spaces.  The applicant had seen no signs that bats were roosting at the 
property, but should they be minded to grant permission a bat survey 
would be carried out; (B) The Committee were concerned that the 
applicant was not aware of the objection from Hampshire Highways and 
the bearing that objection could have on the application given the lack of 
objections from the parish council, neighbours etc.  The Committee felt 
that the reasons for the refusal recommendation could be overcome.] 
 

147. PLANNING APPLICATION - ITCHEN VALLEY COUNTRY PARK, 
ALLINGTON LANE, WEST END - F/22/92889 
 
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Head of Planning 
and Economy (Agenda item 10) concerning an application for provision of 
new visitor facilities comprising the creation of tented events space at 
Highwood Barn Hub, Remodelling of Highwood and Kingfisher barns, 
Reprovision of play equipment at existing play areas, addition of 1no. 
modular visitor building at High Hill Field, Provision of new parking area, 
Rewilding of existing parking bays on north west side of access road, 
installation of cess pits, alterations to access roads and footpaths and 
associated hard and soft landscaping and ancillary structures 
(F/22/92889). 
 
The Committee were told of the following updates: 
 
Consultation Updates: 
 

 Highway Officer – Recommending £5k is secured to undertake a 
study of parking issues along Allington Lane post development, and 
consider parking restrictions as necessary.  

 Environmental Health Officer – Objection to the submitted Noise 
Impact Assessment and Air Quality Assessment. 

 Ecology Officer – Approved the submitted Bat Mitigation Strategy 

 Portsmouth Water – No objection subject to Construction 
Environmental Management Plan 

 

Additional Representations 
 
One additional letter of objection and one additional comment letter 
received.  
 
Condition Updates 
 

• Tree constraint plan drawings added to condition 1 and reference to 
the design and access statement added to condition 2.   

• Reference to Selta Green in condition 2 amended to Delta Green. 
• Additional condition securing the approved bat mitigation strategy. 

 
RESOLVED –  
 

9



6 
 

 

To delegate back to the Executive Head for Planning and Economy in 
conjunction with the Chair, Vice Chair and Local Ward Councillors 

 

Subject to (amended):  

 
i) Submission of infiltration testing information for the 

sustainable drainage system to allow the council to complete 
the habitat regulation assessment.  

ii) The receipt and consideration of Natural England’s comments 
on the council’s habitat regulation assessment.  

iii) Submission of a revised air quality impact assessment and a 
revised noise impact assessment and receipt and 
consideration of the Environmental Health Officers comments. 

iv) Securing £5k towards undertaking a study of parking issues 
along Allington Lane, to include parking restrictions and 
footway parking prohibitions. 

v) The imposition of any necessary additional or amended 
conditions including updated list of amended plans. 

 
GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to conditions (as amended) 
 
[NOTES: (A) One member of the public spoke against the application 
citing the Ecological Impact Assessment (EIA) undervaluing the ecological 
status and the failure to mitigate these risks; (B) the agent spoke in 
support of the application highlighting the improved visitor facilities, 
significant biodiversity gain and the utilisation of off-site manufacturing; 
and (C) the Committee were very pleased to see the upgrades coming 
forward but wanted to ensure that the residents concerns regarding the 
EIA were addressed.]  
 

148. PLANNING APPLICATION - 1 LANKESTER HOUSE, KETTLE AND 
CAKE, FREEGROUNDS ROAD, HEDGE END, SO30 0HG - A/22/92460 
 
In light of the interest declared, Cllr House left the room at this point. 
 
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Head of Planning 
and Economy (Agenda item 11) concerning an application for consent to 
Display the Advertisement (A/22/92460). 
 
The Committee were updated that the 2 fascia signs as now proposed are 
both approximately 4.2m above ground level and the “Spring Tides” 
lettering above the door measures approximately 2m x 0.3m and the 
proposed sign on the side elevation measures approximately 6.2m x 0.6m. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
To grant advert consent subject to the conditions set out in the 
agenda. 
 

10



7 
 

 

[NOTES: (A) the applicant spoken in support of the application, which was 
minimal in scale, not illuminated and had no impact on public amenity.  
The applicant had experienced issues with each of their applications and 
one which should have been determined by 8 May had subsequently been 
withdrawn and the fee not been refunded.  The applicant questioned why 
this application had to come to Committee when it fell into permitted 
development rights; and (B) the Chair responded to the applicant and 
stated that the application had to come before the LAC for transparency 
purposes due to the location of a Councillors property.  The Committee 
also requested that Development Management refund the application fee 
as quickly as possible.] 
 
 

 
149. MAUNSELL WAY TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER (TRO) 

 
The Committee considered the report of the Traffic Management Engineer 
(Agenda item 12) concerning a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to 
introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions on Maunsell Way following 
the success of an experimental TRO. 
 
RESOLVED – 
 
That the experimental Traffic Regulation Order, the effect of which 
was to introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions on Maunsell 
Way, be made permanent. 
 
[NOTE: the Committee thanked officers for the persistence of getting the 
order made permanent following several hurdles.  This was an essential 
improvement and had been a success.] 
 

150. VARIOUS ROADS TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER (TRO) 
 
The Committee considered a report by the Senior Engineering Specialist 
(Agenda Item 13) which detailed representations received in response to 
proposed waiting restrictions on various roads. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Hedge End, West and Botley Local Area Committee 
approved the making of a Traffic Regulation Order (as amended), the 
effects of which are to introduce waiting and parking restrictions in: 
 

a) Bader Close; 
b) Bedford Close, (and the unnamed access road between 7 

& 9 Bedford Close) amended to remove the Double 
Yellow Line from directly outside numbers 6 and 7 and 
retain the element outside the maisonettes.  The longer 
curve outside no. 32 Bedford Close to be a timed waiting 

11



8 
 

 

restriction for school pick up and drop off times to 
enable residents to use outside of those times; 

c) Berry Close amended to retain the proposals for the 
Double Yellow Line at the head of the close (reduced to 
stop short of the driveway of nos. 6/7) and remove the 
two sections opposite and adjacent to nos. 30 and 31.  
This is to allow for parking by residents. 

d) Botley Road (One Way Service Road),  
e) Crusader Road,  
f) Goodlands Vale,  
g) Harris Avenue,  
h) Hemdean Gardens, 
i) Lynton Road,  
j) Simmons Close,  
k) Turnpike Way,  
l) Upper New Road,  
m) West Road and 
n) Westward Road  

as advertised on 25 March 2022. 
 
[NOTE: A number of residents highlighted their concerns, comments and 
support regarding TROs for their roads, including a written statement.] 
 
 
 

151. BOORLEY GREEN STREET NAMING REPORT 
 
The Committee considered a report of Street Naming and Numbering 
Officer (agenda item 14) regarding appropriate street names for road’s 
located in the Boorley Green development off Winchester Road following 
consideration for the options presented by the developer. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the road names contained within the report are accepted by the 
Committee 
 
[NOTE: Whilst the Committee approved the names within the report, they 
did ask that officers explored other themes, namely historical references, 
and other inspiration when putting street names forward in future.] 
 

152. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The Committee considered a report by the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
Item 15). 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Committee: 
 

12



9 
 

 

(1) Allocated £2,130 towards the funding of Friday Night Football 
sessions at Botley Recreation Ground from this Committee’s 
revenue budget; 

(2) Allocated £2,000 towards the funding of Park Sport 2022 from 
this Committee’s revenue budget; 

(3) Approved the grant of £300 to Berrywood School from this 
Committee’s revenue budget; 

(4) Approved the allocation of £52,541 (not including indexation) of 
developer’s contributions from Boorley Park to install a new 
play area at Chancellor Park, Boorley Park.  Also, to ask 
Cabinet to support the forward funding of the play area, if 
required, as detailed in the report and in line with the Council’s 
infrastructure first approach; 

(5) Allocated the Developer’s Contribution of £20,135 towards 
improvements to Moorgreen Meadows SSSI; 

(6) Approved the expenditure of £2,000 towards five dual-waste 
bins at Boorley Park from this Committee’s revenue budget;  

(7) Noted the expenditure of £780 from this Committee’s revenue 
budget towards two dual-waste bins in Hedge End; 

(8) Noted the expenditure of £1,265 from this Committee’s revenue 
budget towards highway infrastructure repairs; 

(9) Noted the expenditure of £531 from this Committee’s revenue 
budget towards Hatch Farm play equipment repairs; 

(10) Approved the expenditure of £5,500 from the Committee’s 
revenue budget as a contribution towards the Young People’s 
Wellbeing Service for 2022/23; 

(11) Approved expenditure of £4,080 from the Committee’s revenue 
budget for six flower towers to be located in Hedge End, West 
End and Botley (HEWEB); AND 

(12) Allocated the Developer’s Contributions of £27,121 towards 
Eastleigh Town Centre public realm improvements. 

 
153. APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 

 
The Committee considered the report of the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
Item 16) concerning appointments to regulatory panels and outside 
bodies.  
 
RESOLVED –  
 

13



10 
 

 

 the nominations for 2022/23 municipal year appointments to 
regulatory panels and other groups as set out below were 
approved; and 

 

Regulatory Panels Councillor nominations for 22-23 

Licensing – to deal with issues 
not covered by the Licensing Act 
2003 or the Gambling Act 2005 

 

All members of the Committee to 
be appointed to a pool from 
which any three can be selected.  
(The requisite training must be 
completed before members can 
serve on a panel.) 

Licensing Panels as appointed 
by full Council for the purposes 
of the Licensing Act 2003 or the 
Gambling Act 2005 

Cllr Asman 
Cllr Pretty 
Cllr Welsh 

Other Groups  

Community Grants Sub-Group Councillors Hadaway, Gomer, 
Garton (LAC Chair), and Kinloch 

 
 

 That the Eastleigh Local Area Committee make appointments 
to the following Outside Bodies for the 2022/23 municipal year: 

 
i. Hedge End, West End and Botley Youth Partnership – Cllr 

Gomer 
ii. North Whiteley Development Forum – Cllr Pretty 

iii. Wildern Community Management Committee – Cllr Garton 
iv. Hedge End, West End and Botley Business Community Group 

– Cllr Pretty 
v. Boorley Green Working Group – Cllrs Kyrle and Kinloch 

vi. Hatch Farm Working Group – Cllrs Asman, Gomer and Tennent 
vii. Deer Park Community Management Committee – Cllr Garton 
 
 

154. ANNUAL REVIEW 
 
The Committee considered a report from the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
Item 17). 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Committee considered and agreed the contents of the report 
 

155. PLANNING APPEALS 
 
The Legal Services Manager reported: 

14



11 
 

 

 
(a) that the following appeals have been lodged: 
 

Land to the South of Netley Hill Farm, St John's Road, Hedge End, 
Southampton, SO30 4DG 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant permission to fell 1 no. 
oak (T1) and replace. 
 
11 Fairfax Mews, Thornhill, Southampton, SO19 6DY 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant planning permission 
for infill ground floor extension with side wrap around, first floor 
addition over ground floor extension and existing garage. 
 
Land South of Snakemoor Lane, East of Winchester Road 
(Denhams Corner), SO32 2BX   
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant planning permission 
for the construction of five adaptable dwellings for disabled 
persons/inter-generational families with widened vehicular access 
from Snakemoor Lane, new pedestrian access from Winchester 
Road, with land available for strategic Denhams Corner roundabout 
improvement scheme. 
 
Holly Rise, Burnetts Lane, West End, Southampton, SO30 2HH 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant planning permission 
for an outline application for the erection of no.2 detached dwellings 
and a double garage for the existing dwelling at Holly Rise with 
access off Burnetts Lane (considering access and layout only) 

 
(b) that the following appeals have been allowed: 
 

Hedge End Retail Park, Tollbar Way, Hedge End, SO30 2UH 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant consent to undertake 
work to trees protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO). 

 
(c) that the following appeals have been dismissed: 
 

The Malthouse, Church Lane, Botley, SO30 2EJ 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant planning permission 
for a change of use from warehouse to 3no. dwellings with single 
storey rear extension, rear dormer windows, elevational alterations, 
car parking, and amenity space following part demolition of existing 
building without complying with a condition attached to planning 
permission Ref F/20/87233, dated 12 June 2020. 

 
RESOLVED - 

15



12 
 

 

 
That the report be noted. 
 

1. FIELD_TITLEFIELD_TITLE 

16



HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee Monday 10 
October 2022. 
 
Application Number: O/22/92771 
Case Officer: Clare Martin 
Received Date: Friday 1 April 2022 
Site Address: HOLLY TREE FARM, MADDOXFORD LANE, BOTLEY, 

SOUTHAMPTON, SO32 2DB 
Applicant: Stratland Estates Ltd 
Proposal: Outline planning application with all matters reserved (except 

for access) for the construction of up to 221 dwellings and a 
scout hall, new access onto Maddoxford Lane; pedestrian 
accesses, emergency vehicle link, parking, drainage, 
pumping station, hard landscaping, soft landscaping, play 
areas, ecological enhancements and diversion of public right 
of way (Botley Footpath 026/3/1) following the demolition of 
two dwellings and associated domestic outbuildings and 
stable block; demolition of car repair garage, sheds and 
cabins and clearance of scrap yard use. 
 

Recommendation: REFUSE 
 
FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS: 
 
1. The proposals represent an inappropriate and unjustified form of development, 

which would have an unacceptably urbanising and visually intrusive impact upon 
the designated countryside to the detriment of the character, visual amenity, and 
the quality of the landscape, of the locality. The application is therefore contrary 
to Policies S1, S5, DM1 & DM36 of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-
2036) and the provision of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

2. The proposal would result in the loss of the best and most versatile agricultural 
land, and the benefits of the development do not outweigh the loss of the 
agricultural land. The application is therefore contrary to the requirements of 
Policy S5 of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-2036) and the provision of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

3. The development would have an unacceptable impact on the public right of way 
to be diverted in terms of the proximity of the built form and its impact upon the 
setting of the route. Furthermore, a lack of information has been provided to 
demonstrate whether the diverted route can be satisfactorily upgraded to a 
bridleway without causing unacceptable harm to existing trees. The application is 
therefore contrary to Policies S12 and DM1 of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
(2016-2036).  

 
4. Insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that the traffic 

movements generated by the housing development could be satisfactory 
accommodated without causing an unacceptable interference with the safety and 
function of the highway network.  The application is therefore contrary to the 
requirements of Policies S11 & DM13 of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-

17

Agenda Item 8



2036) and the provision of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
5. Insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that a satisfactory 

means of access can be created to serve the development without resulting in an 
unacceptable interference with the safety and function of the highway network, or 
an unacceptable loss of tree coverage, or increased urbanisation to the detriment 
of the prevailing countryside character. The application is therefore contrary to 
the requirements of Policies S5, S11, DM1 & DM13 of the Eastleigh Borough 
Local Plan (2016-2036) and the provision of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

 
6. The submitted information fails to demonstrate that the pedestrian link and 

emergency vehicle link through to the neighbouring sites to the west have the 
adjoining landowners’ permission and can be delivered, without which the 
development would be poorly served by sustainable transport methods. 
Furthermore, a lack of information has been provided to demonstrate that the 
routes can be constructed without causing unacceptable harm to existing trees. 
The application is therefore contrary to the requirements of Policies S1, S11, 
DM1 & DM13 of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-2036) and the provision 
of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
7. The submitted information fails to demonstrate that the site is able to 

accommodate the amount of development proposed without having an 
unacceptable impact upon the sites of importance to nature conservation; 
existing trees and ecological features; and public utilities present on the site and 
within the adjoining land. The application is therefore contrary to the requirements 
of Policies S5, DM1, DM11 of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-2036) and 
the provision of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
8. The submitted information fails to demonstrate that the site is able to achieve a 

well-designed development for up to 221 dwellings while meeting the necessary 
standards in terms of open space, green infrastructure and landscaping; urban 
design and heritage, residential amenity and car parking. The application is 
therefore contrary to the requirements of Policies S1, S8, DM1, DM12 & DM14 of 
the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-2036), the provision of the National 
Planning Policy Framework and the Councils Quality Places, Trees and 
Development and Residential Parking Standards Supplementary Planning 
Documents.  

 
9. The submitted information fails to demonstrate that sufficient space has been 

provided for a well-integrated sustainable urban drainage system of a capacity to 
serve the development while not resulting in a detrimental impact upon the 
adjoining Sites of Nature Conservation. Furthermore, the sustainable drainage 
system fails to provide three forms of natural filtration, which is necessary to 
maintain the quality of runoff water entering the Solent and Southampton Water 
Special Protection Area and Ramsar Site and Solent Maritime Special Area of 
Conservation. The application is therefore contrary to the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010, the requirements of Policies S1, DM5, 
DM6 & DM11 of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-2036) and the provision 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

18



 
10. The submitted information fails to demonstrate that the occupiers of the 

development will be protected from the effects of flooding over the lifetime of the 
development and a safe access to and from the development can be provided at 
times of flooding. Furthermore, the submitted information fails to demonstrate 
whether the eastern attenuation pond would be protected from the effects of 
fluvial flooding. The application is therefore contrary to the requirements of Policy 
DM5 of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-2036) and the provision of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
11. The submitted information fails to demonstrate that the site is able to 

accommodate the amount of development proposed while delivering biodiversity 
net gain. The application is therefore contrary to the requirements of Policy DM11 
of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-2036) and the provision of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
12. The application fails to secure provision for developer contributions for the on and 

off-site provision of facilities and infrastructure made necessary by the 
development or to mitigate against any increased need or pressure on existing 
facilities. The application is therefore contrary to the requirements of Policies 
DM28, DM33, DM38 of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-2036), the 
Eastleigh Borough Council's Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document and provisions within the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
13. The application fails to provide for the required mitigation to offset the impacts of 

the development on the European protected sites (i.e. Solent and Southampton 
Water Special Protection Area & Ramsar Site, Solent Maritime Special Area of 
Conservation & New Forest Special Protection Area, Ramsar & Special Area of 
Conservation) from nutrient loading and recreational disturbance generated by 
the population increase resulting from the development. The application is 
therefore contrary to Policies S1, DM10 and DM11 of the Submitted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2016-2036, provision within the National Planning Policy 
Framework and The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

 
Note to Applicant: The application was refused following the assessment of the 
following plans: 01, COP-01-P3, 1773-GA-001, 1773-GA-002, 14039.S1. 
 
 In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Eastleigh Borough council take a positive approach to the handling of 
development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a positive outcome and 
to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely manner. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Report: 
 

19



The application has been referred to Committee by Cllr House, Cllr Garton & Cllr 
Kinloch.  The application is also to be determined by the Committee because it is a 
major development that is contrary to the Development Plan 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
1. The relevant history in relation to this site is as follows: 
 

 V/21/91760 - Environmental Screening Opinion for the development of 221 
dwellings and scout hall with associated site clearance and demolitions, 
access, parking, drainage, hard landscaping, soft landscaping and ecological 
enhancements.  EIA Screening Opinion Issued – Not EIA Development 
(November 2021). 

 

 Z/15716/005 & Q/15716/006 – Lawful Development Certification for the 
change of use of the land from a farm to use for the storage of motor vehicles 
and motor vehicle body parts and scrap material associated therewith. The 
application related to an area of 0.7ha, near the site entrance. A certificate of 
lawfulness was refused by the Council and an enforcement notice issued. The 
enforcement notice was quashed on appeal (April 2001).  

 
Character of the site and its surroundings 
 
2. The 10ha site is located 100m to 170m to the south of Maddoxford Lane, and 

only adjoins  Maddoxford lane on its north eastern corner next to the existing 
dwelling at Holly Tree Farm. The application site sits to the south of an allocated 
site for 30 dwellings (Policy B01) and to the south of a refused housing 
development for 92 dwellings (land to the south of Maddoxford Lane and west of 
Westfield – F/19/85178).  

 
3. The majority of the application site is surrounded by countryside, apart from on its 

north-western tip where a development of 72 dwellings is under construction (at 
Land South of Maddoxford Lane – F/19/84937). Further housing is being 
constructed to the northern side of Maddoxford Lane, which marks the outer 
eastern edge of the Boorley Park development.  

 
4. The application site itself comprises two large connecting fields and is gently 

sloping from the high point in the middle of the northern boundary down to the 
corners. Running diagonally alongside the length of the northern boundary is a 
row of power lines and unground water pipes. There is a further gas mains 
running north to south alongside the site’s western boundary. 

 
5. The main part of the site is used for agricultural purposes and has most recently 

been used for the growing of maize.  The site is surrounded by a mature tree belt 
and vegetation, and this extends a little way into the middle of the site delineating 
the two fields. There are further significant trees around the sites north-eastern 
section where it accesses onto Maddoxford Lane. 

 
6. The site access is characterised by a short narrow driveway, which serves two 

dwellings with domestic outbuildings, a handful of non-residential buildings and a 

20



small car scrap yard. The driveway forms part of a public footpath that runs 
through the site (north to south) and leads out into an area of countryside. The 
public right of way is part of a wider footpath network connecting Maddoxford 
Lane to Botley.  

 
7. The eastern section of the site leads down to the banks of the River Hamble and 

is partly within flood zones 2 and 3. This area is particularly sensitive as it 
contains three SINC (site of nature conservation) i.e. Holly Tree Farm Meadow 
that support a flora and fauna of less-improved wet conditions, which leads into 
Holly Tree Farm Wood that encompasses an area of ancient seminatural 
woodland, followed by an area of marshy grasslands to the south. There is a 
further SINC on the western side of the site, the outer edge of which runs along 
the site’s southern boundary, which is a woodland habitat. 

 
Description of application: 
 
8. The application seeks outline planning permission for the construction of up to 

221 dwellings and a scout hut together with supporting infrastructure including 
amended access from Maddoxford Lane, two leaps (local equipped area for 
play), two attenuation ponds, a pumping station and diversion of the existing 
public right of way.   

 
9. The outline application is to consider the principle and amount of development on 

the site. The application also seeks detailed approval for the matter of access for 
which a transport assessment has been provided. All other matters of detail are 
to be fully considered under a separate application at the reserved matters stage 
(i.e. the appearance, scale, layout, and landscaping). 

 
10. The whole development would be served by one vehicular access from 

Maddoxford Lane in the form of a standard priority junction at the north-eastern 
perimeter of the site. The existing public right of way would be rerouted away 
from the main vehicular access, and instead go alongside the scout hut and on 
through an area of housing. The proposal also includes a suggested vehicle link 
through to the new housing development to the west and a future pedestrian link 
through to the allocated housing site to the northwest.  

 
11. An indicative masterplan along with a design and access statement has been 

included within the submission, which sets out the basic principles for the 
development and demonstrates one way in which the site may be developed for 
this number of units. The details include a mixture of different house types and 
sizes, although predominantly weighted towards two storey houses with a few 
two and a half storey houses and three storey apartment blocks towards the 
centre.  

 
12. The development has an overall gross density of 22.1 dwellings per hectare on 

the 10ha site, or an approximate figure of 30-40dph if calculated using solely the 
developable area and supporting infrastructure. The housing development is set 
in from the site boundaries with the existing boundary treelines for the most part 
being retained as ecological corridors.  

 

21



13. The illustrative layout shows the scout hut and one of the play areas at the front 
of the site (next to the access) with the main housing development divided into 
perimeter blocks on the central and western side of the site.  A further play area, 
attenuation pond, and pumping station is located in the southwestern corner of 
the site. The area east of the access road, incorporating the two SINCS, has 
been kept free from development.  

 
14. The application is accompanied by the following plans and technical 

assessments: 
 

 Site Location Plan 

 Site Access Plan 

 Illustrative Masterplan 

 Landscaping Layout Plan 

 Landscaping Area Plan 

 Constraints and Opportunities Plan 

 Topographical Survey 

 Planning Application Supporting Statement 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment  

 Utilities and Servicing Statement  

 Heritage Environmental Desk Based Assessment 

 Noise Assessment 

 Ecological Appraisal 

 Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 Flood Risk Assessment 

 Transport Assessment 

 Phase 1 Geo-Environmental Preliminary Risk Assessment  

 Air Quality Assessment 

 Nitrates Budget Report and Calculator 
 
Environmental Impact Assessment  
 
15. A formal screening opinion has been undertaken for the development of 221 

dwellings, scout hut and associated infrastructure on the site. It is the council’s 
opinion that the development does not require a formal Environmental Impact 
Assessment to be submitted under the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) (England) Regulations 2017.  

 
Habitat Regulations Assessment  
 
16. The housing development is in an environmentally sensitive location, within the 

catchment area for the River Hamble. It is considered that due to the type and 
location of development the proposal would, without mitigation, have a likely 
significant effect on the: 

 Solent Maritime Special Area of Conservation (SAC), 

 Solent and Southampton Water Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar, 

 New Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Area 
(SPA) and Ramsar.   

22



 
17. Insufficient information has been provided within the planning submission for the 

Local Planning Authority to undertake the appropriate assessment under the 
Habitat Regulations.  
 

Consultations 
 

18. The consultation responses are summarised below: 
 
Policy Team  
 
19. The Council adopted the Local Plan 2016-2036 on 25th April 2022. This 

document now forms the planning policy framework for the borough until 2036.  
 
Principle 

 
20. The Local Plan extended the urban edge of Boorley Green eastwards to 

incorporate development east of Crows Nest Lane and the residential allocation 
BO1 (allocated for at least 30 dwellings). The Holly Tree Farm site is south and 
east of allocation BO1. It is outside the urban edge and identified as countryside 
on the Policies Map. 

 
21. Policy S5(1) sets out the uses appropriate in the countryside and detailed criteria 

for new development in these uses. The appropriate uses do not include new 
residential development. The proposed development would therefore be contrary 
to the recently adopted Local Plan policy S5.  

 
Agricultural Land 

 
22. The red line boundary for this site includes agricultural land classified as Grade 1 

and Grade 3, with the majority in Grade 1. This is the highest level of agricultural 
land. It is classified as excellent quality and ‘best and most versatile’ agricultural 
land (which covers Grades 1 - 3a).  

 
23. Policy S5(2) provides a guide for appropriate new development in the 

countryside. It states that the Council will seek from new development to promote 
the beneficial management of the countryside, including safeguarding the best 
and most versatile agricultural land unless the benefit of the development clearly 
outweighs the loss. Development will therefore be resisted on best and most 
versatile agricultural land within the borough unless the developer can meet this 
criterion.  

 
Highway Officer (HCC) 
 
24. The planning application is supported by a transport assessment, including an 

automatic traffic count survey (ATC) and personal injury data.  
 

Site Access  
 

23



25. Visibility splay based on existing highway conditions - ATC surveys have been 
undertaken on the local road network surrounding the site for the week 
commencing Thursday 14th October 2021 to Wednesday 20th October 2021. 
The ATC site was located on Maddoxford Lane near to the proposed access and 
speeds were recorded as 31.7mph westbound and 30.4mph eastbound.  

 
26. However, further information needs to be provided as to: 

 How the traffic assessment calculates the recorded speeds. 

 Weather conditions at the time.  

 Raw data for the ATC.  

 Full transcripts of the ten accidents in the vicinity of the site (recorded over the 
five-year period). 

 A plan showing the correct visibility splays at the site access, based on the full 
data is required.  

 
27. Until this information has been provided the highway authority is unable to 

comment on whether visibility at the proposed access will meet the appropriate 
highway standards. 

 
28. Maddoxford Lane – The applicant needs to establish whether the existing 

carriageway construction of Maddoxford Lane between the proposed site access 
and Wallace Avenue is physically adequate to support the increase in vehicle 
numbers and loadings and if not improvements to the existing situation need to 
be considered. 

 
29. Tracking details - The site access plan shows the tracking details for a 11.2-

metre-long refuse vehicle. However, further tracking details are required to 
demonstrate that the design of the access off Maddoxford Lane is suitable. These 
include tracking for articulated vehicles used during the construction phase and 
tracking of a delivery van passing family sized cars.  

 
30. Sustainable Transport 
 
31. Local Facilities/ Amenities - North and West of the site sit the key facilities such 

as Boorley Park Primary School (700m 9 min walk from the site) and Deer Park 
Secondary School (2.1km away, which equates to a 25 min walk). The nearest 
bus stops are located along Winchester Road (1km from the site) and these 
provide routes to Southampton City Centre and Eastleigh. The nearest train 
station is Hedge End (2.1km from the site) and provides services to popular 
destinations within the south. 

 
32. The following information needs to be provided by the applicant: 

 The traffic assessment should be updated to include the walking/cycling 
distances to all key amenities to allow the Highway Authority to fully consider 
the appropriateness of the distances to local amenities. 

 A full walking, cycling, horse riding assessment should be undertaken to 
identify any discrepancies/ potential improvements within the vicinity of the 
site in order to promote the use of sustainable travel for residents of the 
proposed development site.  

 A travel plan, which can be secured through a future S106 agreement.  

24



 
33. Existing pedestrian/ cycle provision - The nearest off-site pedestrian/ cycle 

provision is 400m west of the site access, on the northern side of Maddoxford 
Lane / Wallace Avenue. There is currently no provision or tie-in to existing 
infrastructure for pedestrians or cyclists from the proposed site access. 
Pedestrians and cyclists would have to utilise the narrow highway grass verge or 
use the carriageway to travel to and from the development.  

 
34. Proposed pedestrian cycle link - The layout plan shows an internal 

pedestrian/cycle link to the neighbouring housing development to the west. 
However, it is the concern of the Highway Authority that this link cannot be 
guaranteed, given that planning permission has already been granted for the 
neighbouring site without this link. Therefore, the applicant needs to provide 
evidence that a legal agreement has been made on future pedestrian and cycle 
connectively (and proposed emergency vehicular access) between developments 
in order to tie into suitable off-site sustainable infrastructure.  

 
35. Full details of the link are required including: a plan showing the connection to 

appropriate infrastructure within the neighbouring site; whether this link will be 
offered to the highway authority for adoption; and if not how the link will be 
managed and maintained in perpetuity.  

 
Public Right of Way 

 
36. The applicant proposes to divert Botley footpath 3 to facilitate construction of the 

main access. The plans should be amended to provide an on-site bridleway, as 
part of a wider upgrade to the public right of way linking Maddoxford lane / 
Wangfield Lane and Winchester Street. The proposed 1.5-metre wide route does 
not provide a suitable bridleway link and the width and surfacing of this upgrade 
needs to be agreed with Hampshire Countryside Service.  

 
Internal Layout and Car Parking  

 
37. The internal layout of the development should provide enough turning space for 

vehicles to manoeuvre on site in order to access and egress the highway in a 
forward gear, without any conflict with parked vehicles or street apparatus.  

 
38. The internal layout, including provision of parking spaces, can be formalised at 

the reserved matters stage if outline planning permission is approved. Should the 
proposed quantum of parking not conform to adopted standards, the Highway 
Authority will consider whether this is likely to result in a highway safety issue. 

 
Impact on highway network 

 
39. Background data - The background traffic data and growth rates provided within 

the transport assessment utilises data already collected from the neighbouring 
Maddoxford Lane site and is based on industry standards. This data is 
considered acceptable.  

 

25



40. Traffic generated - The transport assessment shows that approximately 80% of 
the development traffic would turn left out of the site access and route towards 
Boorley Green and Winchester Road (B3354). The applicant has subsequently 
provided a forecast trip distribution, which predicted weekday peak hour traffic 
would result in a total of 71 additional movements in the AM and PM peaks at all 
of the following junctions: 

 Woodhouse Lane / Winchester Road Priority junction 

 Maddoxford Lane / Winchester Road Priority junction 

 Crows Nest Lane / Maddoxford Lane Priority junction.  
This equates to an average increase of one additional vehicle every one to three 
minutes. 

 
41. Additional junctions such as the Kingsman Drive / Winchester Road roundabout 

and Botley Road / Snakemoor Lane / Winchester Road / Bubb Lane roundabout 
are forecast to see 22 additional movements in the AM and PM peaks. 

 
42. However, further distribution analysis needs to be provided based on the impacts 

of the Botley Bypass as well as the increased proportion of traffic using Crows 
Nest Lane and Oatlands Road. 

 
43. Junction Assessment - The transport assessment has reviewed the current and 

future operational performance of the site’s access junction and also of the 
junction of Crows Nest Lane / Maddoxford Lane. However, further modelling is 
required for other junctions within the immediate vicinity including: 

 Woodhouse Lane / Winchester Road Priority Junction.  This includes further 
improved priority layout as per Hedge End North development & signalised 
arrangement as per Botley Bypass Improvements and subsequent traffic 
routing through Crows Nest Lane and Oatlands Road. 

 Maddoxford Lane / Winchester Road Priority Junction 

 Kingsman Drive / Winchester Road roundabout  

 Crows Nest Lane / Maddoxford Lane Priority Junction. 

 Botley Road / Snakemoor Lane / Winchester Road / Bubb Lane roundabout 
(Improved Layout as per Hedge End North Development). 

 
44. Until this information has been provided the Highway Authority is unable to fully 

consider the traffic distribution information from the development and assess its 
impact on nearby road junctions.  

 
Landscape Officer – Objection 
 
45. Impact on countryside – The existing field boundary trees and hedgerows ensure 

the site is physically and visually separated from its surroundings.  As a result, 
the site has a definite Countryside character, with a distinct sense of place and a 
moderate sense of tranquillity.  The countryside character is evidenced moving 
eastwards along Maddoxford Lane, on the approach to Holly Tree Farm as the 
Lane drops in level and becomes more winding. The site forms part of a short but 
important 'green' break between the development at Boorley Park and existing 
dwellings on the edge of the village of Curdridge.   

 
Detailed comments 

26



 
46. Change in character along Maddoxford Lane - The proposed access into the site 

will involve the loss of some existing vegetation and result in increased pressure 
on retained mature trees. The countryside character of Maddoxford Lane will be 
adversely affected by the new access and associated works. The existing trees 
and vegetation need to be accurately plotted so the extent of losses can be more 
easily assessed. Further details are required of the access from Maddoxford 
Lane to demonstrate how the character of the Lane is going to be bolstered with 
new native planting. Any new footpath provision along Maddoxford Lane should 
be avoided as this will have a significant adverse impact on the landscape 
character of the lane.  

 
47. Impact on existing Public Footpath - this is a well-used route and as ramblers 

move further away from Maddoxford Lane the path takes on a very definite 
Countryside feel, with attractive views over fields.  The proposal shows the path 
partially re-routed and there would be significant open views of proposed 
dwellings, drives and parking.  The character of this footpath will be negatively 
impacted, and further work is required to ensure the path is screened from the 
proposed development to maintain its attractive setting. This may require a wider 
landscape corridor that the path can run through.  

 
48. Impact on retained woodland/ SINC - The area of existing woodland in the north-

eastern sector of the site is shown as retained and managed.  This may be 
harmed by increased access and further details are required as to how this 
woodland will be managed to avoid adverse impacts.   

 
49. Impact on existing watercourses (including the river Hamble) - although the river 

is a small stream at this point, significant work is required to ensure that there will 
be no surface or ground water pollution resulting from runoff from the 
development. At present there is no clear incorporation of SUDS principles (apart 
from isolated attenuation basins) and there is definitely scope to include shallow 
swales for bio-retention.  The attenuation basins should be creatively designed to 
have a natural profile and to have landscape and ecological interest.        

 
50. Deliverable tree planting – Insufficient tree planting is proposed and the long term 

retention of trees within private rear gardens cannot be guaranteed. The 
opportunities for deliverable street tree planting are limited, and too many 
frontages are cramped with insufficient space for any new trees.  The layout 
should be re-visited with an emphasis on street tree planting as required in the 
recently published Tree SPD. A tree strategy plan is required.    

 
51. The peripheral landscape corridors are an interesting concept and need to be 

designed to maximise habitat value.  At least some areas should be secured 
against access by dogs to avoid disturbance of wildlife.  The landscape corridor 
link (No 6 on plan) looks promising despite being interrupted by access drives in 
two locations.  Perhaps there's scope to narrow the roads where they cross this 
corridor to reduce the interruption to the link?  The other landscape corridor (No 
10) is less convincing and should be re-designed to create a genuine 'green 
corridor through the development 

 

27



52. The natural play areas are welcomed, although the larger area should be better 
screened from the access drive and placed within a generous landscape setting. 

 
53. Pumping station - The location and design of the pumping station should be 

carefully considered and well screened with planting and a black or dark grey 
weld mesh fence. 

 
Ecology Officer - Objection 
 
54. SINC - The illustrative layout does not allow sufficient buffers between the 

development and the SINC.  A minimum 20m buffers is required adjacent to 
SINCs, and this should be increased for particular requirements, such as ancient 
woodlands. Insufficient buffers are also provided for other green infrastructure, 
such as the hedgerows. As such the development in contrary to Policy DM11 

 
55. Biodiversity Net Gain – The submission does not include details biodiversity net 

gain information, which need to be provided upfront. It is unlikely that sufficient 
biodiversity net gain can be achieved with the current layout number of dwellings 
and supporting infrastructure. As such the development in contrary to Policy 
DM11 

 
56. Sustainable drainage – The proposed SuDS scheme shows two attenuation 

basins with all drainage piped to these basins. In Catchment A the attenuation 
basin would discharge into a swale, and then into the protected waters of the 
River Hamble. In Catchment B there is no information about discharge from the 
attenuation basin, however the nearest watercourse, on the southern boundary of 
the site is a tributary of the River Hamble. The proposed sustainable drainage 
system is not acceptable as it fails to provide three forms of natural filtration as 
required for sites over 1 hectare or within 100m of a protected waterway. As such 
the proposal is contrary to Policy DM6.   

 
57. Protected Species – The ecological appraisal provides information about the 

possibility of protected species using the site. It concluded that the site was of 
regional significance for foraging and commuting bats with Barbastelle bats 
recorded on site. The survey work was done according to best practice and in the 
correct seasons. The report also identified a low population of grass snakes, 
likely absence of dormice, confirmed presence of breeding and nesting birds, 
evidence of badger foraging on site, and a pond rated as good suitability for great 
crested newts adjacent to the site. It stated that part of the eastern and southern 
boundaries of the site were designated as a SINC and mentioned recreational 
pressure on the Solent Area SAC and the New Forest SPA.  
 

58. The ecological appraisal identified the species that were likely to be impacted. In 
section 3.5 it mentions that an updated dormouse survey was carried out 
between June and October 2021 as shown in Table 11 in section 4.9.2. The likely 
ecological impacts in absence of mitigation have been stated in section 5.0. 
Section 6 of the report lists recommendations for mitigation compensation and 
enhancement, and states that there should be no public access to the SINCS. 

 
Tree Officer – Objection 

28



 
59. Tree Removal– The area from Maddoxford Lane southwards (approx. 80-100m 

into the site) has significant canopy cover and a wide variety of tree species. A 
number of trees are proposed to be removed in order to facilitate the access road 
and these trees are of value to the rural character of the area. The route of the 
diverted public right of way also appears to run through a linear group of Oak 
trees and creating an access link though the trees would likely be impactful and 
would not be supported.   

 
60. Furthermore, the applicants have failed to demonstrate that tree retention has 

been fully considered as part of the development and any tree removals would 
need exceptional justification (as set out within appendix 1 of the council’s Trees 
and Development SPD).  

 
61. Impact on SINC – The location of the eastern attenuation pond is not acceptable 

as it is within the buffer for the Holly Tree Farm Wood SINC. The location of the 
other attenuation pond on the south western boundary, nearby pumping station 
and surrounding development is also not acceptable as it is within the buffer of 
another SINC, which is designated for its restricted distribution woodland habitat.  

 
62. Other Impact on Trees  

 There are numerous examples where significant trees are too close to 
proposed units (for example T41). 

 We would not be supportive of the proposed emergency vehicle link through 
the western boundary as it punches a hole in a significant linear tree feature. 

 Insufficient space has been provided between the development and line of 
semi-mature oak trees (T36, T37, G9 which includes 5.no Oak Trees &), 
which are positioned next to the public right of way. Whilst these trees are 
currently relatively small in stature, they have the potential to form a 
significant linear feature that would be characteristic of a rural field boundary.  

 Some of the trees on site may have veteran characteristics. We have had 
reports of such features and witnessed some trees of significant girth and 
retrenched crown (e.g. T46). There may be trees, especially on the 
boundaries, that should be assessed in the context of veteran trees given 
their girth, stature and features. 

 
Urban Design Officer 
 

Number of Units 
 
63. The number of units proposed is considered to be excessive for what is a 

countryside edge site, which requires a softer and more sensible response. A 
looser grain that avoids terracing would be required to alleviate what is a fairly 
dense scheme and to create a more appropriate form of development. A 
significant reduction in dwellings is expected to increase the degree of space 
retained between buildings and to intensify the green space area. 

 
Siting and External Layout 

 The frontage outlook for some units would be dominated by parking and 
hardstanding, with no scope for soft landscaping or tree planting. Most rear 

29



gardens are very constrained because of their small size and there appears to 
be, on a few occasions, very little consideration to overlooking to and from 
neighbouring properties. 

 The development has been pushed as far out to the edges of the site as 
possible, leaving no room for worthwhile soft landscaping, let alone any new 
tree planting. 

 A few areas of built form are separated by green wedges. This is supported, 
as it helps the development to create a soft edge to the countryside to the 
south and east. However, it is recommended to propose more and wider 
green wedges to provide valuable green corridors through the scheme. It is 
suggested that the primary vehicle route is designed as a tree-lined avenue to 
further enhance the rural character of the development. 

 On a few occasions, the proposed layout shows a considerable extension of 
brick walls facing the public realm such as public open spaces and the green 
edge. These should be redesigned.  

 There is a further concern regarding the group of dwellings to the east of the 
public right of way which will be visually exposed from the footpath. 

 
Sustainability  

 The scheme needs to integrate more fully with the housing development to 
the north west. The proposal should explore whether it is possible to share at 
least pedestrian and cycle links connecting the sites internally thus 
encouraging active travel and improving permeability. 

 The proposal should significantly reduce vehicular dominance and prioritise 
pedestrian and cycle provision and links to public transport. A bus drop off 
point should be included at the site entrance next to the scout hut.  

 Provide charging points for electric vehicles, Ebikes and other forms of micro-
mobility within garages and/or locations that support the street scene and do 
not hinder pedestrian movement 

 Consider introducing green and blue roofs and walls to reduce hard surfaces 
and control water at source 

 Include additional trees and soft landscape within street scenes to reduce 
hard surfaces, slow surface water run-off, provide shade and create habitats / 
corridors for biodiversity 

 
Scale and External Appearance 

 It is recommended that buildings do not exceed two storeys in height and are 
reduced to 1-1.5 storeys on the southern periphery to create a softer edge to the 
development and transition into the countryside.  

 The sketch views within the design and access statement suggest an appropriate 
style of buildings for the rural setting, which is to be considered at the reserved 
matters stage. However, the illustrative street scenes show very little distinction in 
terms of architecture style between the different character areas. 

 
 
Environmental Health 
 
Amenity 

30



64. Further information regarding noise, vibration, odour and air quality will be 
required at the reserved matters stage, in particular the scheme will need to 
consider road traffic noise and vehicular emissions from Botley Bypass, noise 
and vibration from railway line; noise from the use of heat pumps; noise and 
odour levels for the proposed sewage pumping statement. 

 
Contaminated Land 
65. The Phase 1 desk study includes a review of desk top information along with a 

site walkover survey. A number of potential on-site sources were identified 
including; a kerosene above ground storage tank, a rust above ground storage 
tank, numerous drums of an unknown content, farm buildings, storage of 
materials, a vehicle parts business, asbestos in buildings and partially buried in 
vicinity of buildings, evidence of burning, Made Ground in developed areas and 
the current and historic use of the site as a farm. 

 
66. The desk study identified a number of plausible pollutant linkages that have the 

potential to impact the proposed development. As such a pre-commencement 
condition for a Phase 2 intrusive site investigation is recommended along with a 
condition securing verification of remedial work and a scheme of work to deal 
with asbestos.  

 
Minerals and Waste (HCC) – Holding Objection 
 
67. The site has significant mineral potential and request further exploratory work to 

be undertaken on site. This information must be submitted to the minerals and 
waste team in the form of a Mineral Resource Assessment (MRA). In the 
absence of further information on the mineral potential of the area and/or how this 
mineral potential will be handled by the development, the proposal is considered 
to be contrary to Policy 15 of the adopted HMWP. 

 
Flood and Water Management (HCC) 
 
68. The proposal is to divide the housing developments into two catchments (A and 

B) and discharge via two ponds, one to the River Hamble and one to the ordinary 
watercourse rather than rely on infiltration. Micro Drainage calculations have 
been provided giving greenfield runoff rates. However, the following information is 
required: 

 Quick Storage estimates are needed to demonstrate that there is sufficient 
space on site to accommodate the require attenuation storage. 

 Management – details as to how the increase in discharge volume is being 
managed. This site is a mostly greenfield site and will result in an increase in 
impermeable area of 3.60ha i.e., 1.42 ha (catchment A) and 2.18 ha 
(catchment B). There are 3 general options for dealing with the increase in 
discharge volume to prevent off site flood risk from increasing. 1) Discharge 
all runoff up to the 1 in 100 plus climate change storm events at greenfield 
QBAR, 2) Discharge existing volumes at existing rates and extra volumes at 2 
l/s/ha 3) infiltrate the extra volume.  

 
69. While at this stage we do not need a confirmed option we do need to know that 

there is sufficient space on site to attenuate the increase in volume appropriately. 

31



Please provide supporting calculations showing the attenuation volume needed 
for one of these mitigation options. It should be clear that there is sufficient space 
on site to accommodate this. 

 
70. At the reserved matters stage it will be necessary to provide infiltration testing 

and evidence that the onsite catchment areas are not changing compared to the 
existing situation. 

 
Environment Agency – Objection 
 
71. The submitted masterplan shows that all the built development is located within 

areas shown as Flood Zone 1, and therefore at a low risk of flooding.  However, 
the flood risk assessment has not provided any current day or climate change 
flood levels which are required to demonstrate that the development will remain 
safe over its full lifetime (100 years), and that safe access to and from the site will 
also be available. 
 

72. The masterplan shows an attenuation pond close to Flood Zone 3.  This feature 
is integral to the proposed surface water drainage strategy for the site and 
therefore must remain free from flooding over the full lifetime of the development. 
The flood risk assessment should provide current day and climate change fluvial 
flood levels, proposed first floor levels of the buildings, access road levels and 
ground levels at the attenuation pond. 

 
73. Furthermore, in section 4.6 the flood risk assessment it states that the site will be 

raised and the eastern bank of the River Hamble lowered and this information 
should be clarified. These actions could potentially increase the risk of flooding to 
off-site areas which is not acceptable.  If areas of the site are raised this could 
potentially result in a loss of floodplain storage, either now or in the future, 
therefore a full assessment of the impacts will need to be carried out to determine 
whether compensatory floodplain storage volume will need to be provided on the 
site. Lowering the eastern bank of the River Hamble is likely to increase the 
frequency and severity of flooding to an area that doesn't appear to be within the 
application site. 

 
Natural England – Holding Objection 
 
74. A Habitats Regulations Assessment is required, to include consideration of 

nutrient impacts; recreational impacts on the New Forest SAC, SPA and Ramsar; 
recreational disturbance on the Solent and Southampton Water SPA; SuDS 
system and affect of water quality.  

 
75. A pre-commencement condition requiring a Construction Environmental 

Management Plan to deal with Storage of construction materials/chemicals and 
equipment; Dust suppression; Chemical and/or fuel run-off from construction into 
nearby watercourse(s); Waste disposal & Noise/visual/vibrational impacts  

 
Access Development Officer (HCC) – No response provided. 
 
Built Heritage Consultant   

32



 
76. The inclusion of three storey buildings on the site is not acceptable as it will 

contribute to the intrusion of alien-built form and impinge on the rural setting of 
the heritage assets at Newhouse Farm.  If there must be development on the site 
then two storeys or less is preferable. In addition, the southern boundary will 
need reinforcement with more trees, some evergreen, again to maintain a rural 
setting for Newhouse Farm.  

 
77. There is no objection to the access off Maddoxford Lane access, providing it is 

low key and in order to retain as much of the setting of Maddoxford Farm House 
as possible. It is suggested that conservation kerbs and mature vegetation are 
used to keep the entrance relatively rural as will the general separation of the 
footpath from the road edge, preferably with shrub separation too. 

 
Archaeology (HCC) – No objection subject to a condition securing archaeological 
surveying and recording.  
 
Housing Enabling Officer  
 
78. The consultation response outlines the numbers, size and tenure of affordable 

housing required for the development, including the provision of wheelchair 
accessible dwellings. The affordable housing provision will need to be fully 
considered at the reserved matters stage. 

 
Direct Services (Street scene) – No objection 
 
Economic Development 
 
79. Whilst the used car business at Holly Tree Farm is not one that we would wish to 

protect since it is operating unlawfully at the site, we are nonetheless concerned 
that a planning application has been received for more housing without provision 
for the employment space that will be required if the 450 potential occupants are 
to find work locally. 

 
80. The Local Plan notes a requirement for 144,000 m2 of employment space to 

match the planned requirement for local housing but this planning application has 
omitted to include any.  It should be possible to adjust the application to move the 
Scout Hut into the site and locate a small business centre or community centre 
with space for pop-up businesses on the space close to the entry point to the site. 

 
Asset Management – No response provided 
 
Health and Wellbeing – No response provided 
 
Public Health (HCC) – No response provided 
 
Children Services (HCC) – No objection subject to the applicant entering into a 
section 106 agreement to provide the appropriate contribution towards the expansion 
of Boorley Park primary school and the future expansion of Deer Park Secondary 
School.  

33



 
NHS Hampshire and Isle of White Integrated Care Board – No response provided 
 
Southampton Airport – No objection, subject to a condition securing a bird 
management plan. 
 
Southern Water  
 
81. There is a high pressure water main next to the sites western boundary and 

clipping its south western corner. A 7m clearance is required on either side of the 
water mains from construction works and trees. A 5m clearance is required from 
water features. 
 
Water Supply 

82. Our investigations indicate that Southern Water can facilitate water supply to 
service the proposed development. Southern Water requires a formal application 
for a connection to the water supply to be made by the applicant or developer. 

 
Foul Sewerage  

83. Southern Water has undertaken a desktop study of the impact that the additional 
foul sewerage flows from the proposed development will have on the existing 
public sewer network. This initial study indicates that these additional flows may 
lead to an increased risk of foul flooding from the sewer network. Any network 
reinforcement that is deemed necessary to mitigate this will be provided by 
Southern Water.  

 
84. Southern Water will liaise with the developer in order to review if the delivery of 

our network reinforcement aligns with the proposed occupation of the 
development, as it will take time to design and deliver any such reinforcement.  

 
85. It may be possible for some initial dwellings to connect, pending network 

reinforcement. Southern Water will review and advise on this following 
consideration of the development programme and the extent of network 
reinforcement required.  

86. Southern Water will carry out detailed network modelling as part of this review 
which may require existing flows to be monitored. This will enable us to establish 
the extent of any works required. 

 
Southern Gas Network – Objection. There is a high pressure pipeline in the vicinity 
and detailed consultation needs to take place with Southern Ga Network before 
objection is removed.  
 
Scottish and Southern Electric – Detailed mapping of site provided. 
 
ESSO Pipeline – No objection as there is no apparatus situated near the proposed 
development. 
 
Botley Parish Council - Objection  

 Conflicts with Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2013-2036). 

34



 Conflicts with the Botley neighbourhood plan, which requires permitted sites to be 

completed before new development approved.  

 The findings of the previous appeal decision are applicable to this application.  

 Detrimental impact on the Countryside. 

 Maddoxford Lane is unsuitable for the volume of traffic proposed.  

 The transport assessment is out of data and does not account for current traffic 

conditions.  

 No mains sewerage along Maddoxford Way. 

 Proposal would have a significant adverse effect on the ecological value of the 

River Hamble. 

 This part of Botley is affected by increased instances of flooding from the River 

Hamble. 

 
Botley Action Group 

 Site note allocated and is not an allowable development within the countryside   

as such the application conflicts with Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2013 - 2036). 

 Site not included within the Emerging Botley Neighbourhood Plan. 

 Unnecessary development as the Council has a 5 year housing land supply.  

 Excessive development and urbanisation. 

 A prior housing development for Maddoxford Lane has been refused. 

 Inadequate infrastructure. 

 Unsuitable site access. 

 Erode gap between Boorley Green and Curdridge village. 

 Insufficient information about disposal of foul sewerage.  

 Possible adverse affects on the river Hamble. 

 Dubious benefits to the community.  
 
Curdridge Parish Council 

 Development conflicts with Eastleigh Local Plan. 

 The dismissed appeal decision for the site to the north provides robust reasons 
why current development should be refused e.g. harm the character of the 
countryside, unsatisfactory design and layout etc. 

 Should you be minded to permit the application then a construction logistics plan 
should be secured to ensure construction vehicles do not use Wangfield Lane 
and a community liaison representative is appointment.  

 
Winchester City Council – Objection 

 The site is located within the countryside and not allocated for housing in the 
Eastleigh adopted plan. 

 This scale and type of housing development should come through Eastleigh’s 
local plan process rather than an unsolicited planning application. 

 The access into the site will involve the loss of some existing vegetation. 
Winchester City Council is concerned that this section of the Lane (abutting the 
WCC boundary) which has a definite Countryside character will be adversely 
affected by the new access and associated works. 

 Support the Landscape Officer’s assessment of the character of the locality.   

35



 The application will have a negative impact on the nearby SINCS, hedgerows, 
significant trees and ancient woodlands. 

 The site is within the wider setting of the Grade 2 listed building High House and 
Lower Wangfield Farmhouse(both within the Winchester District).  

 
Durley Parish Council – No response provided. 
 
Eastleigh Ramblers - Objection as the site has not been allocated for housing. If 
approved the diverted footpath should be a minimum of 2m wide and meet the 
relevant design standards. 
 
Representations Received 
 
87. A total of 79 letters of representations have been received in relation to the 

planning application: 63 in objection, 15 in support and 1 comment letter.  The 
points raised are summarised below: 

 
Principle of development and Need  

 The application is not supported by local plan. 

 The area is overdeveloped with new housing.  

 The Council has a five-year housing land supply and new housing not needed. 

 The countryside between Botley and Curdridge needs to be protected. 

 There are community buildings within Botley that could accommodate the scouts. 

 

Infrastructure and Transportation 

 Lack of local facilities to support housing e.g. schools, doctors, dentists. 

 Housing will add to existing drainage and sewerage problems. 

 Access onto Maddoxford Road cannot take heavy traffic and already in a poor 

state of repair.  

 Safety concerns with traffic turning right onto Maddoxford Lane and over narrow 

bridge.  

 Local roads not able to accommodate additional traffic. Botley bypass has not yet 

been constructed. 

 Out of date transport assessment. 

 Lack of safe walking routes to secondary school, shops and infrequent buses. 

 Loss of footpath through the site. 

 

Amenity 

 Loss of green space and countryside. Local residents need access to green 

spaces.  

 Additional air pollution, noise pollution, light pollution and health implications. 

 New dwellings have small gardens. 

 

36



Other  

 Site could have land contamination due to storage of motor vehicles. 

 Hard surfacing will cause further flooding. 

 Destruction of wildlife habitats. 

 Impact of additional traffic impact on road surfaces and house foundations. 

 Management companies looking after housing sites are unregulated. 

 Social housing is not managed property and devalues area. 

 Disruption during building works. 

 
Supporting Comments:  
 

 Need for more affordable housing in the locality. 

 Community benefits, including new scout hut. Many children are unable to join a 

scout group due to the lack of availability in the area.  

 Housing in a sustainable location. 

 Provides better pedestrian access and emergency services link. 

 Includes soft play facilities, green space and ecological enhancements. The 

proposal includes gifting woodland and new woodland walks. 

 Beautiful location for residents of the new housing to enjoy.  

 The local roads have been upgraded to enable housing in the locality.  

 
Development Plan  
 
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 
 
Strategic policies: 

 S1 (Sustainable Development); 

 S2 (Promotion of New Development); 

 S3 (Housing Locations); 

 S5 (New Development in the Countryside); 

 S10 (Community Facilities); 

 S11 (Transport Infrastructure); 

 S12 (Strategic footpath, cycleway & bridleway links); 
 
Development Management policies: 

 DM1 (General Development Criteria); 

 DM2 (Environmentally Sustainable Development); 

 DM3 (Adapting to Climate Change); 

 DM5 (Managing Flood Risk); 

 DM6 (Sustainable Surface Water Management and Watercourse 

 Management); 

 DM8 (Pollution); 

 DM10 (Water and Waste Water); 

 DM11 (Nature Conservation);  

 DM13 (Transport); 

37



 DM14 (Car Parking); 

 DM23 (Residential Development in Urban Areas); 

 DM24 (Creating a Mix of Housing); 

 DM28 (Delivering affordable);  

 DM29 (Access Standards); 

 DM30 (Internal Space Standards): 

 DM33 (Recreation and Open Spaces Facilities in New Developments); 

 DM36 (Community, Leisure and Cultural Facilities): 

 DM38 (Funding Infrastructure). 
 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 
 
88. The site is in a Minerals Consultation Area and Policy 15 seeks prior extraction of 

minerals where appropriate.  
 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

 Trees and Development (April 2022), 

 Quality Places (November 2011), 

 Environmentally Sustainable Development (March 2009), 

 Biodiversity (December 2009), 

 Residential Parking Standards (January 2009), 

 Planning Obligations (July 2008, updated 2010), 

 Affordable Housing (July 2009). 
 
National Planning Policy Framework  
 
89. At national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the 

‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the determination 
of planning applications. The National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or 
the ‘Framework’) sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development, 
which has three overarching objectives; an economic (supporting economy and 
ensuring land availability); social (providing housing, creating high quality 
environment with accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to, 
protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment). These 
objectives should be delivered through the preparation and implementation of 
plans and the application of the policies in this Framework; they are not criteria 
against which every decision can or should be judged. 

 
90. Paragraph 12 of the NPPF confirms that “the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development does not change the statutory status of the 
development plan as the starting point for decision-making. Where a planning 
application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan, permission should not 
usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take decisions that depart 
from an up-to-date development plan, but only if material considerations in a 
particular case indicate that the plan should not be followed”. 

 
National Planning Practice Guidance  
 

38



91. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the provisions 
and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the consideration and 
determination of planning applications.  

 
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative Background 
 
92. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a Local Planning 
Authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The 
Development Plan comprises the Policies of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
Review 2016-2036 and the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013.  The 
NPPF and the Planning Practice Guidance constitute material considerations of 
significant weight. 

 
Principle: 
 
93. The application site lies outside of the urban edge within an area designated as 

countryside. As such, Policy S5 of the adopted Local Plan is of relevance. This 
policy allows development for specific countryside uses such as agricultural 
developments; residential extensions and replacement buildings, existing 
employment uses; re-use of buildings; rural workers dwellings and 
accommodation for gypsies and travellers; outdoor recreation and open spaces; 
allotments and community farms; cemeteries and essential public utilities.  

 
94. The application seeks outline approval for the development of the site for 

residential purposes in the form of up to 221 dwellings. Large-scale 
developments of this nature are not supported by Policy S5 and as such the 
proposals are contrary to the development plan and not acceptable in principle. 
The Eastleigh Local Plan 2016-2036 was adopted in April 2022 and therefore the 
policies fully aligns within the National Planning Policy Framework and can be 
given the strongest weight in decision making. The planning application should 
therefore be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
95. One material consideration is the provision of the new scout hut, which has been 

included in the housing development. It is acknowledged that this facility would 
allow more children to take part in scouting, with the opportunity to enjoy a range 
of outdoor and adventurous activities and so providing positive benefits to their 
health and wellbeing. However, the scout hut could be applied for independently 
of the housing development and it is also noted that Policy DM36 does not 
support the principle of new community facilities within the countryside.  

 
96. A second material consideration is the removal of the unconforming scrap yard at 

the northern end of the site, which would have a positive visual impact. It would 
also remove an unneighbourly use, which has the potential to create noise and 
disturbance to the handful of neighbouring residential properties. However, the 
scrap yard only covers a very small portion of the 10-hectare site and so the 
benefits associated with its removal are limited.  

 

39



97. While both of these material considerations weigh positively against the scheme, 
it is considered that the addition of the scout hut and removal of the scrap yard do 
not justify the provision of 221 dwellings in the countryside, which is against 
policy.  

 
98. Another material consideration is the current supply of housing, with the national 

planning policy framework requiring councils to provide a five year supply of 
housing based on the local housing need figure and a 5% buffer. Eastleigh meets 
this requirement and is able to demonstrate a 5.1 year housing land supply (as of 
August 2022). As such there is no immediate pressure for additional housing to 
be provided through unallocated sites outside of the urban edge.  

 
99. It is also noted that the deletion of the strategic growth area from the local plan 

has reduced the number of allocated dwellings within the plan period. However, 
this shortfall only affects the second half of the plan period (from 2026 onwards). 
The Council is required to undertake an early review of the local plan to allocate 
further housing sites where necessary. The local plan process is the most 
appropriate route for new housing sites to be put forward for consideration, with 
the National Planning Policy Framework emphasising the need for developments 
to be plan led. 

 
100. Furthermore, in a recent appeal decision for a major housing development at 

Sovereign Drive, the Inspector highlighted the primacy of Eastleigh Borough 
Council’s newly adopted local plan and dismissed the appeal for an unallocated 
housing site outside of the urban edge. The Inspector also considered that the 
quality of the housing development and its impact on its surroundings was more 
important in that case than whether the Council could demonstrate a five year 
housing land supply. 

 
101. In conclusion, the policies of the submitted local plan do not support the 

proposed housing development on this unallocated countryside site and there are 
no overriding material considerations that warrant a decision other than in 
accordance with the development plan.   

 
Impact on Countryside and Surrounding Area 
 
102. The character of Maddoxford Lane changes significantly moving eastwards, 

from the urban settlement of Boorley Green into the countryside. The area at the 
edge of Boorley Green is in a period of transition with a number of housing 
developments now under construction. These housing sites fall within the urban 
edge of the adopted local plan and are intended to form the settlement boundary, 
with the outer eastern edge of the Boorley Park development lining up with that of 
the allocated housing site (Policy B01).  

 
103. From the settlement boundary, Maddoxford Lane then transitions into an area 

of pastured fields separated by well-established hedges and trees with only the 
occasional building. At the approach to Holly Tree Farm the lane drops in levels, 
becoming more winding, which reinforces the countryside character. The 
application site and surrounding fields are part of a short, but important, stretch of 

40



countryside that forms a green break between the edge of Boorley Green and 
village of Curdridge.  

 
104. The application is for the introduction of up to 221 dwellings on the 10ha site 

at Holly Tree Farm, a site which is almost completely surrounded by fields. It is 
therefore considered that the location of the housing development would be out 
of keeping with the established pattern of development within the locality. 
Furthermore, a development of this nature would erode the rural character of 
Holly Tree Farm and surrounding countryside by introducing a large scale built 
development consisting of buildings, roads, parking and the domestic activities 
associated with a residential use.  

 
105. A very similar view was taken by the Planning Inspector when they dismissed 

an appeal for 92 dwellings on the land to the immediate north of this site 
(F/19/85178). Half of the neighbouring development was outside of the urban 
edge and in dismissing the appeal the Planning Inspector considered the major 
housing development would have a detrimental impact on the countryside 
character of the locality.  

 
106. Turning to the details of the current proposal, the most significant impacts are 

likely to be felt at the site’s access with Maddoxford Lane and along the public 
right of way as it crosses north-south through the application site. 

 
107. The site is accessed from Maddoxford Lane at its north-eastern corner. This 

area contains a wide variety of trees and vegetation, stretching some 80m-100m 
back into the site. At present the access is fairly discrete consisting of a single 
lane access road serving a small collection of buildings. The proposed 
development would realign, widen and lengthen the site access in order to 
provide two way traffic into and out of the housing development. In doing so the 
proposal would not only result in the loss of significant canopy cover at the site 
entrance and north eastern corner, but also create an urbanising feature at odds 
with the rural character of the country lane. Furthermore, insufficient information 
has been provided to demonstrate whether the access design is suitable for the 
site and as such there is the potential for the impact to be greater than that 
shown on the access plan.  

 
108. The current access road also forms the footpath for the public right of way, 

which cross the length of the site (north to south). The start of the public right of 
way is treed and runs between the two existing dwellings before traveling through 
a scrap yard. While it is acknowledged that the scrapyard is unsightly, the public 
right of way soon opens up into an area of countryside with attractive views over 
the site and surrounding group of fields.  

 
109. Under the proposal the footpath would be re-routed through a landscaping 

strip within the housing development. The character of the southern section of the 
right of way would become more urbanised with views of dwellings, drives and 
parking along its route through the site. On balance the proposed development 
would take away from the countryside character and overall appeal of the public 
right of way.  

 

41



110. The proposal would also have a wider impact on the surrounding area. The 
indicative layout plan is for two storey dwellings positioned in rows alongside the 
site boundaries and two and a half storey houses/ three storey flatted buildings 
towards the centre of the site. It is considered that the scale of the buildings and 
close grain of the development is not appropriate for its countryside location 
appearing as a very urban form of development. The taller dwellings would also 
have an impact on the setting of the grade ll listed buildings at Newhouse Farm to 
the south east of the site. 

 
111. While it is noted that most of the boundary trees and vegetation are to be 

retained, nevertheless, the development will be viewed over and through the 
parts of the boundary where vegetation is less dense and through the winter 
months when there is less foliage. This will be especially noticeable from public 
viewpoints particularly as walkers approach the site along the public right of way 
and also from vehicles traveling along this stretch of Maddoxford Lane. As such 
the development would have a detrimental impact on the countryside character of 
the locality.   

 
Agricultural Land 
 
112. Policy S5 (2.d) of the local plan requires development to safeguard the best 

and most versatile agricultural land, unless the benefit of the development clearly 
outweighs the loss. A provisional agricultural land classification has been 
provided by the Council’s Policy Team and this lists the majority of the site as 
Grade 1 (the of the highest quality land) and a smaller section on the western 
side as Grade 3. Grades 1, 2 & 3a are considered to be high quality agricultural 
land, as set out within The National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
113. No agricultural land report has been provided for the development site. While 

the northern tip of the site contains residential properties and a scrap yard, the 
majority of the site has previously been used for growing maise and therefore is 
likely to be high quality agricultural land. As such the proposed housing 
development is contrary to Policy S5 (2.d) as any benefits associated with the 
current development are not considered to outweigh the loss of the agricultural 
land. 

 
Site Access and Public Right of Way  
 
114. The outline application includes detailed consideration of the site access, 

which is shown on the access arrangement plan. The proposed development 
would be served by one standard priority junction off Maddoxford Lane at its 
north-eastern corner. A visibility splay of 2.4m by 42m is provided, which is based 
on cars traveling up to 29.8mph.  

 
115. While the submission is accompanied by a transport assessment (including a 

traffic count survey and accident data), the Highways Officer has asked for 
further clarification on the data provided and requires the background data to be 
submitted. In the absence of this information, the Highway Officer is unable to 
comment upon whether the visibility at the junction is sufficient for the prevailing 
highway conditions.  

42



 
116. Furthermore, the vehicular tracking information into and out of the new site 

access has only been provided for one type of vehicle i.e. a refuse lorry. This 
tracking information needs to be expanded to cover the range of vehicles likely to 
use the new junction, to demonstrate that they can safety turn into and out of the 
access and pass another vehicle coming the other way. Without this tracking 
information, the Highway Officer is unable to establish whether the design of the 
junction is suitable for the traffic using the development.  

 
117. The access plan also shows the route of the diverted public right of way, 

comprising of a separate 1.5m wide footpath. This footpath is located to the west 
of the main access road, connecting Maddoxford Lane through the housing 
development and into the fields beyond. While a separate route for non-road 
users is welcomed, Hampshire County Council requires the public right of way to 
be widened to 3m in order to become a bridleway and would be part of a wider 
upgrade of the route from Maddoxford Lane and Botley. 

 
118. However, the northern section of the site is heavily treed and creating both the 

wider bridleway and two-lane access road would likely result in the removal of 
significant tree coverage. In addition, the proposed works would likely have an 
indirect impact on retained trees as any new surfacing or levels changes may 
cause compacting and so damage their root systems.  

 
Traffic Movements and Highways Impacts 
 
119. The transport assessment predicts that the development would generate 111 

two-way movements in the morning (08:00-09:00) and evening (17:00-18:00) 
peaks, 80% of which would turn left out of the site towards Boorley Green.  While 
the Highway Officer has accepted the methodology for calculating the trip rates 
and background data used, additional information needs to be provided within the 
Transport Assessment. This information needs to consider whether the increase 
in traffic generated by the development, in combination with other housing 
developments in the locality, can be safety accommodated on the road network. 
The information also needs to include additional modelling data for nearby road 
junctions, consider the impact of the future Botley Bypass on traffic patterns, and 
provide engineering details as to whether the construction of Maddoxford Lane 
can accommodate the additional traffic.  

 
120. Without this information, the Highway Officer is unable to assess the full 

impact of the development on the local road network. It maybe that junction 
upgrades are required to accommodate the additional traffic flows and if this is 
the case funding would need to be secured through a legal agreement as part of 
the outline planning application.    

 
 
 
 
Sustainable Transport 
 

43



121. The site is on the edge of Boorley Green, which will included a small 
collection of shops and community/ recreational facilities at the new Boorley Park 
Development. Boorley Green also provides onward bus links to larger 
settlements at Hedge End, Eastleigh and Southampton where there are railway 
stations. It is therefore necessary for the proposed development to provide a safe 
and attractive footpath/ cycle link through to Boorley Green in order to promote 
sustainable transport options. 

 
122. The nearest pedestrian/ cycle link to Boorley Green is 400m west of the site 

access on the northern side of Maddoxford Lane. It is considered unlikely that 
this footpath link could be extended eastward along Maddoxford Lane due to 
ownership issues and the Local Planning Authority would not wish to see the 
hedge removed to make way for a footpath/ cycle route. As such there is no 
reasonable prospect of extending the existing off-road footpath/ cycle route 
further along Maddoxford Lane to connect to the application site.  

 
123. Instead, the indicative layout shows two possible new connections; a 

pedestrian link to the allocate housing site to the north and an emergency 
vehicular link through to the housing development to the west. While these offer 
possible solutions, Officers are doubtful whether the pedestrian link to the 
allocated site could be provided in the short to medium term as there is no 
current planning application for this site. In terms of the emergency vehicular link 
to the neighbouring development, no evidence has been forthcoming that the 
neighbouring developer would be willing to install such a link through their 
housing development. Due to the advance stage of construction on the 
neighbouring site this link could not be secured through the planning process and 
indeed it may not be possible to redesign the neighbouring development to create 
a link.   

 
124. Furthermore, concern is raised that both of the proposed pedestrian and 

vehicular links go through an important tree line along the site boundary. Without 
detailed drawings and tree information, it is considered that these links have the 
potential to damage trees of importance and an objection has been raised by the 
Tree Officer.  It is also noted that the vehicular access would need to go over a 
buried gas main owned by a utility provider and it is unclear whether the utility 
provider would give permission for the new link.  

 
125. With no reasonable prospect of a new footpath/ cycleway connection being 

delivered through the neighbouring sites, at least in the short term, the residents 
of the development would have to walk eastward along Maddoxford Lane. This 
would not be an appealing prospect as Maddoxford Lane is unlit and has no 
suitable verges separating pedestrians from traffic, with vehicles able to travel at 
the national speed limit. As such the development would be unable to provide a 
safe and desirable footpath/ cycle route to Boorley Green and so the new 
residents would be heavily reliant on private vehicles.  

 
 
 
Protected Species and Biodiversity Net Gain 
 

44



126. In terms of protected species, the site is of significance for foraging and 
commuting bats with Barbastelle bats recorded. There is a low population of 
grass snakes, a presence of breeding and nesting birds, evidence of badger 
foraging on site, and a pond rated as good suitability for great crested newts 
adjacent to the site. The ecological assessment provides appropriate mitigation 
for protected species and had the application been recommended for permission 
the further details of the mitigation could have been secured by condition.  

 
127. In addition to mitigation, Policy DM11 requires development to provide a 

biodiversity net gain, which will rise to a 10% biodiversity net gain under the 
Environment Act 2021 that comes into force later on next year. While the 
ecological assessment acknowledges that habitat condition assessment work 
and biodiversity net gain information will be produced, this information has not 
been provided as part of the planning submission and so does not meet the 
policy requirement. Furthermore, the Ecology Officer has raised concern that it 
may not be possible to provide sufficient on-site biodiversity net gain for the 
development while accommodating a development of this size on the site.  

 
Amount of Development 
 
128. The proposal is an outline application that will consider the principle of 

developing the site for 221 dwellings (and a scout hut) and access for the 
development. While detailed consideration of the layout, appearance, scale and 
landscaping is to be considered under a reserved matters application an 
indicative masterplan and design and access statement has been provided with 
this application. These details set out one way the site could be developed to 
accommodate 221 dwellings and provides overarching design principles of the 
scheme.    
 

129. The indicative layout sites the new housing, and scout hut, to the west of the 
proposed access road so that the two SINCs along the eastern side of the site 
remain free from development. The proposed development would take up the 
central and western portions of the site and has been designed to retain the 
existing treed boundaries with an additional landscape corridor created across 
the middle section of the site. 

 
130. While this is a reasonable approach for the development, there are many 

instances where dwellings are too close to existing boundary trees so limiting the 
long-term health and retention of these trees or restricting the trees future 
potential to reach maturity. There are also examples of important veteran trees 
within the existing boundaries, which will require more space than that provided 
by the development.  

 
131. Also of significant concern is the impact the development would have on the 

three SINCs (sites of importance to nature conservation) i.e. the two connected 
SINCs along the eastern part of the site and a further separate SINC in the 
western part of the site just outside its southern boundary. While the development 
is not within the SINCs, the indicative layout plan does not allow for a sufficient 
buffer (usually 20m) between the new built form and the edge of each of the 
SINC.  

45



 
132. In this case the sites internal access road off Maddoxford Lane, along with the 

section of the development to immediate east of the access, and the south-
eastern attenuation pond would all be within the buffers for the two eastern 
SINCs. Likewise, the south-western attenuation pond, pumping station and road 
network would be within the buffer for the southern SINC. Without a sufficient 
development free buffer, it is likely that the SINCs would be damaged by the 
proposal.   

 
133. Furthermore, the current SINCs are not publicly accessible, and the housing 

development is likely to put additional pressure on the SINCs. No management 
plan has been put forward for the SINCs and given the lack on alternative on site 
open space provision it is likely that some residents will use these areas for 
recreation. This will result in a deterioration in the condition and quality of the 
SINCs, for example the inputs of nutrients due to dog waste can change the soil 
and water chemistry and therefore the flora of an area.  

 
134. Another layout issue is the existing power lines and unground water pipes 

running alongside the site’s northern boundary. Southern Water have indicated 
that a 7m buffer is required on either side of the water mains from both new 
development and tree planting. This has not been designed into the layout and as 
such the layout would need to be altered to provide additional clearance for the 
existing services.  

 
135. It is noted that an easement has been provided for the high-pressure gas 

pipeline on the western boundary. However, Southern Gas Network have raised 
an objection to the development and the applicant will need to liaise with this 
provider to ensure that their equipment is not damaged by the development. This 
could result in further amendments to the layout and a reduction in the 
developable area.  

 
136. In conclusion, the indicative layout fails to provide sufficient room for 

development free buffers, without which the development is likely to adversely 
affect trees, SINC’s and the existing utilities. As such the actual amount of the 
site that can be developed will need to be reduced, which will likely mean that the 
site is unable to accommodate the 221 dwellings proposed. While it is 
acknowledged that the housing mix could be altered in favour of smaller taller 
residential units, this is likely to be out of keeping with the type of development in 
the locality and would be more appropriate for an urban location.  

 
Public Open Space and Layout 
 
137. Policy DM33 requires all new residential development to contribute towards 

recreational and open space facilities. It is expected that a development of this 
size will provide onsite public open unless there are opportunities to improve 
existing nearby open space facilities in which case the open space can be split 
between onsite and offsite provision. In addition, an area of at least 0.2m of 
useable open space in one or more locations should be provided for formal 
recreational uses, along with two LEAP’s (local equipped play areas) one for 
young children and another for older kids.  

46



 
138. The indicative layout fails to provide any significant usable public open space, 

with the SINC’s on the eastern side not being suitable for recreational uses. The 
remaining green spaces within the development either contains existing trees or 
are to be retained/ enhanced for ecological corridors or as landscaping.  

 
139. The layout does make provision for two LEAPs, but these are relatively small, 

and no informal recreational space is provided close by. Furthermore, the LEAPs 
are right next to residential properties, and while some element of visibility is 
encouraged, LEAPs should be at least 20m away from dwellings to prevent 
disturbance.  Simply put the indicative layout does not provide a sufficient quality 
or quantity of usable open space.  

 
140. There are also a number of design issues many of which are caused by the 

large number of dwellings proposed on the site. For example, most rear gardens 
are very constrained because of their small size and some properties lack on site 
car parking spaces. Where parking has been provided, these often dominate the 
frontage outlook of the dwellings with limited scope for soft landscaping or tree 
planting. 

 
141. Furthermore, the proposal is not considered to create desirable living 

accommodation and there appears to be, on a few occasions, a high level of 
overlooking to and from neighbouring properties. The flatted blocks in the centre 
of the site are a prime example, having their main facing facades separated by 
only 9m (20m being the required standard for new dwellings) and the northern 
block is completely enclosed by roads.   

 
142. The development itself has been pushed as far out to the edges of the site as 

possible, leaving no room for worthwhile tree planting or soft landscaping, and 
limited useable public open space.  In a few areas the built form is separated by 
green wedges, but these are generally too narrow and not enough are provided 
to create valuable green corridors. The identified view points through the site 
have not been maximised and indeed the one from Hill Top View looks down the 
vista onto the pumping station.  

 
143. The proposal also includes two attenuation ponds, which if well designed can 

create attractive landscaped and recreational features as well as providing 
ecological benefits. However, due to the lack of space afforded in the indicative 
layout plan the ponds are likely to be hard engineered urban features that would 
need to be fenced off and so would detract from the appearance of the 
development. 

 
144. Overall, it is considered that the number of units proposed is excessive, given 

both the insufficient buffers provided and the cramped and poor-quality indicative 
layout. There are many instances where the indicative details fail to meet the 
necessary standards, as set out within Quality Places, Tree and Development 
and Residential Parking Standards SPD.   

 
 
Drainage and Flooding 

47



 
145. The development would drain through a series of pipes into one of two 

attenuation basins. In Catchment A (the northern half of the site) the attenuation 
basin would discharge into a swale, and then into the protected waters of the 
River Hamble. Limited information has been provided for Catchment B (the 
southern half of the site) and it is assumed that the attenuation basin would be 
pumped into the nearest watercourse on the southern boundary of the site, which 
is a tributary of the River Hamble. The drainage systems proposed do not provide 
the three forms of naturalised filtration required by Policy DM6 and so would have 
to be redesigned, potentially taking up additional space, to ensure the quality of 
the water entering the River Hamble is acceptable.  

 
146. Furthermore, while basic drainage information has been provided, the Lead 

Flood Authority require further details showing how the increase in surface water 
discharge will be managed and calculations to demonstrate whether sufficient 
storage capacity is available within the proposed attenuation ponds. Without 
these details the Lead Flood Authority is not able to comment on the capacity and 
suitability of the proposed drainage system. At this stage it is questionable 
whether sufficient space is provided for the drainage system within the indicative 
layout as the attenuation ponds may have to be enlarged or additional drainage 
features added.   

 
147. In terms of flood risk, the indicative plan shows all the built development is 

located within areas shown as Flood Zone 1, and therefore at a low risk of fluvial 
flooding. However, the accompanying flood risk assessment has not provided 
any current day or climate change flood levels details which are required to 
demonstrate that the development will remain safe over its full lifetime (100 
years). It also does not show how safe access to and from the site can be 
achieved in the event of a flood. 

 
148. An additional concern is the eastern attenuation pond, which is located close 

to flood zone 3.  This feature is integral to the proposed surface water drainage 
strategy for the site and therefore must remain free from flooding over the full 
lifetime of the development. Without the necessary information provided, concern 
is raised that the attenuation pond may have to be re-sited further away from the 
River Hamble otherwise flooding events could disrupt the sites surface water 
drainage system.  

 
Heritage  
 
149. The closest historic assets to the site are the locally listed Maddoxford 

Farmhouse (50m to the north east of the Maddoxford Lane access point) and a 
collection of three Grade ll listed buildings at Newhouse Farm (400m to the south 
along the public right of way).  

 
150. The grounds for Maddoxford Farmhouse are close to the site entrance, on the 

opposite side of Maddoxford Lane. While it is noted that the treatment of the new 
entrance could impact the setting of this asset, the farmhouse is locally listed so a 
less significant heritage asset. The actual farmhouse is on the far side of the site 
and is relatively well screened by trees from the development. As such the 

48



junction works are not considered to have an unacceptable impact on the 
heritage asset, and this impact could be lessened further if conservation kerbs 
are used and vegetation clearance is kept to a minimum. 

 
151. The other three grade ll listed buildings at Newhouse Farm are separated 

from the southern boundary of the site by a field and wooded copse and there is 
a significant change in levels down to the listed buildings. As such it is likely the 
new housing will be visible approaching the Newhouse Farm buildings along the 
public right of way. The proposed development therefore has the potential to 
compromise the rural setting of the heritage assets, particularly at the south-east 
corner of the site at the closest point to the farmstead. 

 
152. The Built Heritage Officer has raised no objection to the development if the 

indicative three storey buildings in the centre of the site are lowered to two storey 
and the sites southern boundary is reinforcement with additional trees, some 
evergreen, to maintain the setting of the Grade ll listed Newhouse Farm. 
However, these changes do not currently form part of the proposed development. 

 
153. In term of Archaeology, there are no substantive archaeological records of the 

site although the heritage statement does refer to archaeological sites known in 
the surrounding landscape, which indicate that this landscape does have some 
archaeological potential. No objection has been raised by the County Council 
Archaeologist, subject to a condition securing archaeological surveying and 
recording.  

 
Noise and Contaminated Land  
 
154. The application is supported by information related to noise, vibration, ground 

gases and ground conditions. It is also acknowledged that the removal of the existing 
scrap yard from the northern part of the site will help lower noise and disturbance on 
the small collection of current dwellings around the site entrance. 

 
155. The Environmental Health team has been consulted on the application and raised 

no objection. While there are a number of outstanding pieces of information still 
required, it is possible for the noise & vibration mitigation to be designed into the 
scheme at the reserved matters stage when the final layout and appearance is 
considered. The details of ground gases and associated mitigation would have been 
dealt with via conditions had the application been recommended for permission.  

 
Minerals and Waste 
 
156. The proposed development lies within the mineral and waste consultation 

area and is covered by Policy 15: Safeguarding – mineral resources of the 
adopted Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013). The purpose of the policy is 
to protect potentially economically viable mineral resource deposits from 
needless and unnecessary sterilisation and encourages the recovery of potential 
viable mineral resources prior to commencement of development.  

 
157. Having reviewed the available data Hampshire County Council, as the Mineral 

Planning Authority, have concluded that the site has significant mineral potential. 
As such they have requested that further exploratory work be undertaken and this 

49



inform a mineral resource assessment, that then needs to be submitted for 
approval.  While this work has not been undertaken by the applicant, it would 
have been reasonable to deal with this as a pre-commencement had the 
development been recommend for permission.  

 
Water and Foul Sewage 
 
158. Southern Water have confirmed that they can provide a water supply to the 

site, but that there is currently inadequate capacity in the local network to provide 
foul and surface water sewerage disposal to service the development. The p 
development would increase flows into the wastewater sewerage system and as 
a result increase the risk of flooding in and around the existing area. Additional 
infrastructure would be required to provide the additional capacity; however, this 
can be secured through a process outside of the planning system, usually at the 
developer’s expense. Southern Water therefore raised no objection to the 
application subject to conditions.  

 
Impact on SPA 
 
Nutrients 
 
159. Natural England have advised that the increase in wastewater from new 

housing development within the borough is having a likely significant effect on the 
quality of water entering the Solent catchment area. New developments are 
required to reach nutrient neutrality (ensuring that development does not add to 
existing nutrient burdens), in order to meet the requirements of the Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). For this site the 
development is required to achieve nutrient neutrality for nitrogen.  

 
160. A nitrogen budget calculator has been provided, which concluded that the 

development will result in an increased nitrogen load of 221.29kg/year. The 
accompanying report suggest ways in which it might be possible to provide 
nitrogen mitigation measures including: 

 Rearranging the site layout to reduce the number of dwellings and provide 
more open space. 

 Creating additional habitat on site including wetlands and ponds, which could 
form part of the sustainable urban drainage system. 

 Buying nitrogen credits from an approved scheme. 
 

161. However, while in theory these measures could provide the necessary 
nitrogen mitigation no firm details have been provided or mitigation secured as 
part of the planning application and therefore the necessary certainty that the 
development would not be harmful to the Solent has not been provided. Without 
the certainty of an agreed mitigation package, the application fails to demonstrate 
that the development would not have a likely significant impact on the water 
quality of the Solent and Southampton Water Special Protection Area & Ramsar 
Site, Solent Maritime Special Area of Conservation. 
 

Recreational Disturbance 
 

50



162. The site is within the 5.6km buffer of the Solent and Southampton Water 
Special Protection Area and 13.8km buffer of the New Forest. New housing 
development on this site is likely to result in a significant effect on the protected 
areas through an increase in residential disturbance. While it would be possible 
to mitigate for this increased residential disturbance (through schemes designed 
to manage and enhance these areas or provide suitable alterative recreational 
spaces) no mitigation has been secured as part of this development.  
 

163. Without the certainty provided through an agree mitigation package, the 
application has failed to demonstrate that the development would not have a 
likely significant impact through increased recreational disturbance on:  

 

 The Solent and Southampton Water Special Protection Area & Ramsar 
Site, Solent Maritime Special Area of Conservation. 

 New Forest Special Protection Area, Ramsar & Special Area of 
Conservation. 

 
Planning Obligations 

 
164. In accordance with Policies DM28, DM33 & DM38 of the Eastleigh Borough 

Local Plan (2016-2036), the Council's Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing 
Supplementary Planning Documents and the Community Infrastructure 
Regulations, there is a requirement for planning obligations to ensure on and off-
site provision for facilities and infrastructure made necessary by the development, 
and to mitigate against any increased need/pressure on existing facilities.  
 

165. As all of the information requested by the consultees has not been provided, it 
is not possible to draw up a full list of planning obligations. However, the list of 
planning obligations would have a minimum requirement of: 

 

 Provision of 35% affordable housing on site 
 

 Financial contributions towards: 
 

i. Community infrastructure 
ii. On-site public open space and play area provision 
iii. Off-site public open space provision 
iv. Sustainable transport measures and improvements 
v. Improvements / enhancements to public right of way and local 

footpath network 
vi. Primary and secondary education 
vii. Health provision 
viii. Public Art 

 

 An application for the diversion of the public right of way and dedication 
agreement to provide bridleway rights.  
 

 A mitigation package for the developments impact on the Solent and 
Southampton Water Special Protection Area & Ramsar Site, Solent 
Maritime Special Area of Conservation & New Forest Special Protection 

51



Area, Ramsar & Special Area of Conservation. In terms of nutrient output 
and increase recreational disturbance. 

 
 
Climate Change  

 
166. In July 2019, the Council declared a Climate Change and Environmental 

Emergency. In doing so it agreed, among other things, to: (a) put in place 
measures to ensure the Council’s own operations and functions achieve carbon 
neutrality by 2025; (b) work with partners to aim for all projects and services 
delivered in the Borough to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030; (c) ensure that the 
Council’s procurement policy recognises carbon neutrality as one of its primary 
considerations; and (d) recognise the urgency of action to mitigate and adapt to 
climate change in every decision taken by the Council. This is underpinned by the 
Climate and Environment Emergency Strategy 2020–2030 and the supporting 
Climate and Environmental Emergency Action Plan – Update June 2020.  
 

167. The declaration of the Climate Change and Environmental Emergency 
demonstrates a strong commitment from the Council to achieve net zero. The 
NPPF, development plan and adopted local plan policy do not set this as a 
specific target, but it is a material consideration to be considered alongside all 
other material considerations. In any case addressing climate change is a core 
part of the NPPF and local plan policy.   

 
168. The NPPF aims for the need for housing to be met, and policy S2 of the Local 

Plan sets a target for 14,580 dwellings to be provided by 2036. The NPPF, 
Policies S1, DM2 and DM3 of the Local Plan and energy and water elements of 
the adopted Environmentally Sustainable Development SPD require development 
to be sustainable in terms of resource use, climate change and energy use. Had 
the application been recommend for permission it would be possible to impose 
conditions to this affect. When considering the impact of climate change, the 
proposed development would be expected to be resilient to the potential effects 
of climate change and is expected to reduce/limit impacts on climate emissions 
as a result of the development or its use.    

 
Equalities Implications  

 
169. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. 

Section149 states: -  
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 
need to:  

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under this Act;  
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;  
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 

52



170. When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the 
equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups.  It is 
considered that this application does not raise any equality implications.  

 
Planning Balance 
 
171. The national planning policy framework looks to achieve sustainable 

development, which has three overarching objectives i.e. economic, social and 
environmental.   

 
172. The proposed development would provide some economic benefits. These 

include employment opportunities that would be created during the construction 
phase of the development, which will in turn result in increased spending within 
the local economy, for example on materials, goods and other services. In 
addition, the future occupiers of the residential properties would be likely to 
support local services and facilities, and a new homes bonus would also be paid. 
Furthermore, the proposals would result in financial contributions being secured 
to offset certain impacts of the development, and result in the enhancement of 
local infrastructure, facilities and public art.  

 
173. The proposals would also provide some social benefits in delivering both 

affordable housing and market homes.  The proposals also include the provision 
of a scout hut and play facilities and if permission were to be granted financial 
contributions would be sought towards local educational, health and community 
facilities that would benefit the residents.  

 
174. Provided that they are appropriately secured, these elements are benefits of 

the development that would be considered in the planning balance and overall, it 
is considered that the development would be economically and socially 
sustainable.  

 
175. Turning to environmental considerations, the proposal will result in some 

visual (and residential amenity) benefits by removing the small car scrap yard at 
the northern end of the site. However, the benefits associated with the removal of 
the scrap yard are outweighed by the visual impact of the major housing 
development. The report has outlined a number of serious environmental costs 
caused by the development including its impact upon the countryside location as 
well as existing trees, ecological features and the Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation.  

 
176. Overall, it is considered that the environmental costs of the scheme strongly 

outweigh any economic and social benefits. In addition, the economic and social 
benefits identified are not unique to this scheme and could be accrued from a 
development of this size in a different location. 

 
177. Furthermore, the Council has both a five-year housing land supply and a 

history of delivering housing sites (175% of housing delivery target). The Council 
has also a recently adopted local plan that set out its plan for sustainable 
development within the borough. As such there is no immediate pressure for 

53



additional housing to be provided through unallocated sites outside of the urban 
edge.  

 
Conclusion 
 
178. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) 

of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local planning 
authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the Development 
Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

 
179. The principle of the housing development is not acceptable as it is located 

within the countryside and would result in the loss of high-quality agricultural land 
for which there is no over-riding justification. 

 
180. It is considered that the proposal would amount to a visually intrusive form of 

development that would have an urbanising impact on the countryside and public 
right of way.  

 
181. The number of units proposed is considered to be excessive, given the site 

constraints. The indicative layout would result in a cramped and poor-quality 
housing scheme that would have a detrimental impact on existing trees and 
ecological features, including the sites of importance for nature conservation. 

 
182. Furthermore, insufficient information has been provided in relation to diverting 

the public right of way, site access, traffic impact on the highway network, 
sustainable transport, drainage, trees, ecology and flood prevention. The 
application also fails to secure planning obligations for the on and off-site 
provision of facilities and infrastructure and mitigation for the developments 
impact on the special area of conservation.  

 
183. The application is contrary to planning policy and is therefore recommended 

for refusal.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

54



 
 
 

55



This page is intentionally left blank



HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee Monday 10 
October 2022. 
 
Application Number: V/22/93385 
Case Officer: Liz Harrison 
Received Date: 22 July 2022 
Site Address: Land North West of Winchester Road, Boorley Green, 

Hampshire, SO32 2BX 
Applicant: Miller Homes 
Proposal: Proposed Deed of Variation to S106 legal agreement dated 

16 June 2016 associated with outline permission 
O/15/75953, as amended by X/19/84943, to amend the 
triggers for the completion of the Highways Works 
Agreement for the Shamblehurst Lane North Works and the 
Winchester Road/Bubb Lane/Snakemoor/Botley Road 
Roundabout Works to prior to the occupation of no more 
than 50 dwellings; and for completion of the Shamblehurst 
Lane North Works and Bus Access Restrictor Works to prior 
to the occupation of no more than 350 dwellings; and to add 
a trigger for the provision of an accessible Pedestrian and 
Cycle Route from Winchester Road to Shamblehurst Lane 
North prior to occupation of no more than 200 dwellings and 
a trigger for the completion of an on-site Bus, Pedestrian & 
Cycle Route prior to the occupation of no more than 350 
dwellings. 
 

Recommendation: AGREE TO THE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE 
ORIGINAL S106 LEGAL AGREEMENT 

  
 

__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Report: 

 
1. This application has been referred to Committee by Cllr House, Cllr Garton 

and Cllr Kinloch. 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
2. The relevant history in relation to this site is as follows: 

 

 O/15/75953– Outline application for up to 680 residential units, mixed 
use comprising of retail and/or community/healthcare use, land for two-
form entry primary school, formal and informal open space and sports 
pitches. New access off Winchester Road, associated on-site roads, 
infrastructure and footpaths/cycleways. Detailed matters for 
determination access (all other matters reserved - scale, appearance, 
landscaping and layout). This application is the subject of an 
Environmental Impact Assessment, is a departure from the 

57

Agenda Item 9



Development Plan, is Major Development and affects the setting of a 
Right of Way – allowed on appeal 30.11.16 
 

 RM/17/81628 - Reserved matters application (pursuant to outline 
planning permission O/15/75953 which was subject to an 
Environmental Impact Assessment) for Phase 1 scheme equating to 
301 residential dwellings with associated parking, road infrastructure, 
landscaping, open space, surface water drainage networks, on-site 
waste water treatment works, provision of additional vehicular parking 
for Hedge End Railway Station and bus only connection to 
Shamblehurst Lane North - approved 16.1.19 

 

 X/18/82986 - Variation of Condition 12 of outline planning permission 
(O/15/75953) to enable foul drainage to be carried out in accordance 
with either the approved Flood Risk Assessment (Dec 2014) or details 
set out in the Foul Sewerage Assessment (March 2018 ref M380-Doc 
05) – granted 6.11.18 

 

 F/18/83837 - Upgrades to an existing farm access to create a left-turn 
only junction onto Winchester Road, providing dedicated vehicular 
access to service an adjacent Waste Water Treatment Works and 
farmland, as well as dedicated pedestrian and cycle access and all 
associated works, on land to the north west of Boorley Green - granted 
25.3.19 

 

 RM/18/84466 - Reserved Matters application (pursuant to outline 
planning permission O/15/75953 which was subject to an 
Environmental Impact Assessment) for Boorley Gardens Phase 2 
equating to 143 dwellings with associated parking, landscaping, open 
space and works, including diversion of a drainage ditch. (Details 
relating to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) - approved 
9.4.21 

 

 X/19/84943 - Variation of condition 3 of outline planning permission 
O/15/75953, as amended by X/18/82986, to allow revisions to the 
Parameter Plans for Movement & Access, Landscape, Density, 
Building Heights and Land Use - granted 1.3.21 

 

 X/19/85533 - Variation of conditions 1 (Reserved Matters Details), 4 
(Reserved Matters Applications), 8 (Arboricultural Method Statement 
and Tree Protection), 10 (Construction Method Statement & 
Construction Environmental Management Plan), 11 (Surface Water 
Drainage), 13 (Roads and footways), 16 (Noise Assessment), 18 
(Contaminated Land), 21 (Implementation of Employment & Skills 
Management Plan), 23 (Tree/shrub clearance during bird breeding 
season), 24 (Japanese Knotweed), 25 (Moorgreen Stream/Ford Lake 
Brook buffer), 26 (Archaeological Assessment & Mitigation), 27 
(Archaeological Report), 28 (Energy Efficiency & Water Consumption), 
34 (Build Details & Measures) and 37 (Noise assessment of on-site 
waste water treatment works) of outline planning permission 

58



O/15/75953, as amended by X/18/82986 and X/19/85533 to enable 
phased approach to development - granted 27.8.20 

 

 RM/19/86658 - Reserved Matters application (pursuant to outline 
planning permission O/15/75953 which was subject to an 
Environmental Impact Assessment) for Boorley Gardens Phase 3 
equating to development of 236 residential dwellings with associated 
parking, landscaping and open space.  (Details relating to appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale) – approved 5.4.22 

 

 X/20/87593 - Variation of conditions 1 (Reserved Matters Details), 4 
(Reserved Matters Applications), 8 (Arboricultural Method Statement 
and Tree Protection), 10 (Construction Method Statement & 
Construction Environmental Management Plan), 11 (Surface Water 
Drainage), 13 (Roads and footways), 16 (Noise Assessment), 18 
(Contaminated Land), 21 (Implementation of Employment & Skills 
Management Plan), 23 (Tree/shrub clearance during bird breeding 
season), 24 (Japanese knotweed), 25 (Moorgreen Stream/Ford Lake 
Brook buffer), 26 (Archaeological Assessment & Mitigation), 27 
(Archaeological Report), 34 (Build Details & Measures) and 37 (Noise 
assessment of on-site waste water treatment works) of outline planning 
permission O/15/75953, as amended by X/18/82986 and X/19/85533 to 
enable phased approach to development – granted 27.8.20 

 

 F/20/88811 - Creation of a new shared footpath / cycleway linking the 
southern end of the approved Boorley Gardens development 
(O/15/75953) to the existing footpath / cycleway on the western side of 
Winchester Road - currently under consideration. 

 

 V/21/89755 - Proposed Deed of Variation to S106 legal agreement 
dated 16 June 2016, associated with outline permission O/15/75953, 
as amended by X/19/84943, to amend the triggers for delivery of the 
primary school site; enable flexibility in the spending of the primary 
education contribution; and enable the secondary education 
contribution to be spent on an alternative secondary school project – 
currently under consideration 

 

 X/21/91994 - Variation of condition 1 (approved drawings) of reserved 
matters application RM/17/81628 (pursuant to outline planning 
permission O/15/75953) for Phase 1 to allow revisions to the house 
types on plots 1-102, excluding plots 3, 4, 18, 35-40 and 69 – currently 
under consideration 

 
The site and its surroundings 
 
3. The Boorley Gardens development site is located within the parish of Botley 

and lies to the east of the Borough.  The overall site is a large, irregular 
shaped site that is approximately 45 hectares in size and lies to the west of 
Winchester Road in Boorley Green and to the north east of the Portsmouth to 
London Waterloo railway line.  The site adjoins Shamblehurst Lane North in 

59



the western corner, with Ford Brook/Moorgreen Stream forming the northern 
boundary of the site.  Botley Footpath no. 1 runs through the site from 
Winchester Road to Shamblehurst Lane North.  The village of Boorley Green 
lies to the east and south east of the site, with Hedge End railway station 
located to west of the site and the settlement of Hedge End to the west on the 
other side of the railway line. 

 
4. Development has recently commenced on site but prior to that, with the 

exception of the buildings at Park Farm, the site was undeveloped and 
consisted of pasture and arable farmland with various hedgerows and tree 
belts on field boundaries and along the public right of way.  The northern part 
of the site is relatively flat, but it rises up in the southern part of the site. 
 

5. The site is not located within a Conservation Area, nor are there any listed 
buildings or designated sites of nature conservation interest within the site.   
 

Description of application  
 
6. The application seeks approval of a Deed of Variation to amend some of the 

triggers for the obligation of the S106 legal agreement associated with the 
original outline permission as set out below: 

 

Existing Obligation Current trigger Proposed trigger 
 

Paragraph 2, Part 1, 
Schedule 7 - Enter into 
S278 highways 
agreement for 
Shamblehurst Lane 
North Works and 
Winchester Road/Bubb 
Lane/Snakemoor/Botley 
Road Roundabout 
works  
 

Prior to 1st occupation Prior to 50th 
occupation 

Paragraph 6, Part 1, 
Schedule 7 - Complete 
Shamblehurst Lane 
North Works 
 

Prior to 150th 
occupation 
 

Prior to 350th 
occupation 

Paragraph 1, Part 2, 
Schedule 7 - 
Submission and 
approval of bus access 
restrictor proposals by 
HCC 
 

Prior to 
commencement 

Prior to 1st 
occupation 

Paragraph 3, Part 2, 
Schedule 7 - Complete 
bus access restrictor 

Prior to 150th 
occupation 
 

Prior to 350th 
occupation 

60



works 

 
7. In addition to these requested changes the following new obligations have 

been negotiated and these now form part of the proposed Deed of Variation: 
 

New Obligation Current trigger 
 

Proposed trigger 

Provision of an 
accessible pedestrian 
and cycle route from 
Winchester Road to 
Shamblehurst Lane 
North (route to be 
agreed)  
 

n/a Prior to 200th 
occupation 

Provision of bus route 
and pedestrian and 
cycle route through the 
site from Winchester 
Road to Shamblehurst 
Lane North  

n/a Prior to 350th 
occupation 

 
8. The Deed of Variation will need to include some other subsequent 

amendments to the wording of the original S106 legal agreement to reflect the 
revised triggers. 
 

9. Given that the proposed Deed of Variation does not seek to amend the type, 
form, or size of development that has already been approved it is considered 
that the proposals do not need to be reconsidered under the Town & Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 or The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and 
the previous assessments remain valid. 
 

Consultation Responses (summarised) 
 
10. EBC Sustainable Transport Officer – The delivery of the ped/cycle route 

between Shamblehurst Lane North and Winchester Road should be secured 
within the S106 agreement.  
 

11. From recent conversations with HCC I understand that there is a realistic 
prosect of a bus route serving the site. The required infrastructure should be 
delivered in advance of this route coming into operation. The proposed 
triggers for the provision of the ped/cycle path from Winchester Road to 
Shamblehurst Lane North (prior to 200th occupation) and bus route through 
the site from Winchester Road to Shamblehurst Lane North (prior to 350th 
occupation) appear reasonable and are therefore acceptable as it is unlikely 
that the service will commence in advance of these thresholds. 
 

12. HCC Highways – The proposed amendments are considered acceptable.  
Bus operators have been approached and it appears that there will be 

61



demand for a route to run through the site.  While this is a commercial 
decision for operators, it is anticipated this route could run from completion of 
the route through the site and the bus access onto Shamblehurst Lane North 
post 350 occupations.   

 
13. Botley Parish Council - Object.  

 The trigger for completion of the Shamblehurst Lane North Works and 
Bus Access Restrictor Works is considered too large.  The committee 
would like this reduced to the occupation of no more than 150 dwellings. 

 The committee would like to reduce the trigger for the completion of an 
on-site Bus, Pedestrian & Cycle Route prior to the occupation of no more 
than 150 dwellings.  

Given these crucial links to access public transport networks, the committee 
feel the overall triggers are too lengthy. 
 

14. Hedge End Parish Council – No objection. 
 

Representations Received 
 

15. 3 letters of objection on grounds of: 

 Original figures for completion of works calculated for a reason 

 Overdevelopment of area, resulting in lack of green spaces 

 Detrimental ecological impact 

 Impact on residential amenities due to asbestos removal from farm 
barns and dust 

 Green buffer to neighbouring properties should be provided 

 Overlooking, loss of privacy, visually intrusive 
 
Designations Applicable to Site 
 
16. The following designations are applicable to the site 
 

 Within HRA Screening Area for Solent & Southampton Water SPA & 
SAC, River Hamble SAC and New Forest National Park 

 Solent Recreation Disturbance Zone 

 Public Right of Way 
 

The Development Plan 
 
17. The Development Plan for the borough comprises the Hampshire Minerals 

and Waste Plan (October 2013) and the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-
2036). 
 

Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) 
 

18. The site is not a Safeguarded Site nor within a Minerals Consultation Area 
therefore no policies from the Hampshire Minerals are relevant to this 
application. 
 

62



Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 
 
19. The most relevant policies to the determination of this application are: 

 S1 – Delivering sustainable development 

 S2 – Approach to new housing 

 S3 – Location of new housing  

 S11 – Transport Infrastructure 

 S12 – Footpaths, cycleways and bridleways 

 DM13 – General development criteria – transport 

 DM38 – Funding infrastructure 

 BO6 – Junction Improvement - Botley Road / Bubb Lane roundabout 
(Denham’s Corner) 
 

Supplementary Planning Documents 
 
20. Relevant documents are: 

 Quality Places (November 2011) 

 Planning Obligations (July 2008) 
 

National Planning Policy Framework 2021 
 
21. At a national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the 

‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications. The NPPF states that (as required by 
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. 
 

22. The three identified dimensions of sustainability should to be sought jointly: 
economic (supporting economy and ensuring land availability); social 
(providing housing, creating high quality environment with accessible local 
services); and environmental (contributing to, protecting and enhancing 
natural, built and historic environment) whilst local circumstances should also 
be taken into account, so that development appropriately responds to the 
different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different 
areas. 

 
Planning Practice Guidance  
 
23. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the 

provisions and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the 
consideration and determination of planning applications.  

 
Policy Commentary 
 
24. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) 

of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require planning 
applications to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 

63



(policies detailed above) unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
The relevant policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which 
this application will be assessed.  

 
Principle of the Development 
 
25. Outline planning permission O/15/75953 for up to 680 dwellings and 

associated uses and facilities was allowed on appeal in November 2016.  The 
principle of this development has therefore been established and cannot be 
reconsidered as part of this application.  The S106 legal agreement 
associated with the outline permission requires a number of obligations to be 
met in relation to the provision of on and off-site facilities and infrastructure 
and the payment of various financial contributions in order to provide for the 
needs of the future residents and mitigate for the impact of the development. 
 

26. The proposed Deed of Variation does not seek to remove any of the 
obligations set out in the existing S106 legal agreement but does seek to 
amend some of the triggers in relation to the timing of the provision of the 
following elements: 
 

 Shamblehurst Lane North Works 

 Winchester Road/Bubb Lane/Snakemoor/Botley Road Roundabout 
works 

 Bus Access Restrictor  
 

A summary of these works is provided in paragraphs 32-34 below. 
 

27. In addition, following negotiation with officers at EBC and HCC, it also seeks 
to add triggers for the provision of the following obligations: 
 

 Provision of an accessible pedestrian and cycle route from Winchester 
Road to Shamblehurst Lane North  

 Provision of final bus route and pedestrian and cycle route through the 
site from Winchester Road to Shamblehurst Lane North 

 
A summary of these works is provided in paragraphs 36 and 37 below. 

 
28. The proposed Deed of Variation does not seek to alter the extent of 

development and associated infrastructure to be provided.  As such the 
principle of the development cannot be reconsidered as part of this 
application, only the suitability of amending the provisions of the S106 legal 
agreement as set out above.   
 

29. It is noted that some of the third party representations received relate to the 
principle of developing this site and the impact it would have on ecology and 
residential amenities.  However, these matters were considered at the outline 
and reserved matters stages and do not relate to the nature of the proposed 
changes to the S106 legal agreement therefore they cannot be reconsidered 
as part of this application. 

 

64



Amended obligations 
 
30. As set out above the proposed Deed of Variation seeks to amend the triggers 

for the following obligations in the S106 legal agreement associated with the 
original outline permission: 

 

Existing Obligation Current trigger Proposed trigger 
 

Paragraph 2, Part 1, 
Schedule 7 - Enter into 
S278 highways 
agreement for 
Shamblehurst Lane 
North Works and 
Winchester Road/Bubb 
Lane/Snakemoor/Botley 
Road Roundabout 
works  
 

Prior to 1st occupation Prior to 50th 
occupation 

Paragraph 6, Part 1, 
Schedule 7 - Complete 
Shamblehurst Lane 
North Works 
 

Prior to 150th 
occupation 
 

Prior to 350th 
occupation 

Paragraph 1, Part 2, 
Schedule 7 - 
Submission and 
approval of bus access 
restrictor proposals by 
HCC 
 

Prior to 
commencement 

Prior to 1st 
occupation 

Paragraph 3, Part 2, 
Schedule 7 - Complete 
bus access restrictor 
works 

Prior to 150th 
occupation 
 

Prior to 350th 
occupation 

 
31. The extent of these works is not being reconsidered as part of this application 

but for clarity they are summarised below.  A copy of the original S106 legal 
agreement including any plans showing the relevant works can be found here.  
 
Shamblehurst Lane North Works 

32. The approved development includes an access from Shamblehurst Lane 
North into the development to serve a new car park for station users and 
provide access for buses.  Vehicles other than buses will be prevented from 
travelling further into the site by a bus access restrictor.  In addition to the 
creation of this access off Shamblehurst Lane North the S106 legal 
agreement requires improvements to be made to Shamblehurst Lane North in 
the vicinity of the bridge over the railway.  The in-principle drawing included 
within the S106 legal agreement shows these works to include road widening, 

65

https://eastleighbc.my.salesforce.com/sfc/p/0Y000000ZLnm/a/4J000000Wejs/kMHDJq_tgpdXQn6TPhyApx5VkJTJixXbOWXTjY03ZmM


the creation of a 1.8m footway and the installation of traffic signals on either 
side of the bridge. 
 
Winchester Road/Bubb Lane/Snakemoor/Botley Road Roundabout works 

33. The in-principle drawing included within the S106 legal agreement shows 
these works to include the enlargement of the roundabout and the widening of 
the approaches on the northern arm (Botley Road) and western arm (Bubb 
Lane). It should be noted however that the Deed of Variation does not seek to 
amend the tigger for when these works are to be provided (300 occupations), 
only the time by which the associated S278 highways agreement needs to be 
completed. 
 
Bus Access Restrictor 

34. This relates to works to restrict road access to through traffic from within the 
site to Shamblehurst Lane North (and vice versa), except for buses.  
Hampshire County Council (HCC) as the Local Highway Authority are 
currently anticipating that this would be achieved through design, a Traffic 
Regulation Order and signage, with the possibility of installing Automatic 
Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) if required to ensure enforcement.  The 
final details are to be secured via the S106 legal agreement. 
 
Additional obligations 
 

35. In addition to the amendments to the triggers as set out above, following 
negotiation by officers at EBC and HCC the proposed Deed of Variation now 
includes for the addition of the following obligations: 
 

New Obligation Current trigger 
 

Proposed trigger 

Provision of an 
accessible pedestrian 
and cycle route from 
Winchester Road to 
Shamblehurst Lane 
North (route to be 
agreed)  
 

n/a Prior to 200th 
occupation 

Provision of bus route 
and pedestrian and 
cycle route through the 
site from Winchester 
Road to Shamblehurst 
Lane North  

n/a Prior to 350th 
occupation 

 
Accessible pedestrian and cycle route from Winchester Road to Shamblehurst 
Lane North  

36. As the proposed amendments to the provision of the Shamblehurst Lane 
North and Bus Access Restrictor would delay the provision of the bus through 
route, alongside which a segregated pedestrian and cycle route is shown on 
the plans approved at reserved matters stage for Phase 1, this new obligation 

66



would ensure that a pedestrian and cycle route would have to be provided at 
an earlier stage to ensure connectivity to Hedge End train station.  The 
precise route of this is unknown at present as it would depend on the progress 
of development on site.  It could be a temporary route or a route along the 
alignment of the spine road through Phase 1, so the Deed of Variation would 
also require details of the route to be submitted and agreed. 
 
Bus route and pedestrian and cycle route from Winchester Road to 
Shamblehurst Lane North 

37. This additional obligation relates to the provision of the permanent route for 
buses, pedestrians and cycles through the site.  While the original S106 legal 
agreement includes triggers for various elements of the route it does not 
include a trigger for when the full route is to be provided and available for use.  
This obligation therefore provides certainty as to the timing of the provision of 
the route.  This obligation would relate to the provision of the permanent 
route, hence, in relation to the pedestrian and cycle route, is in addition to the 
other new obligation as that could be met by a temporary route that is 
subsequently removed.     
 
Consideration of proposed amendments 
 

38. The developer has requested that the triggers for the provision of these works 
are amended to ensure consistency between the triggers for the different 
elements of work in that part of the site.  The station user car park, accessed 
via the junction with Shamblehurst Lane North is required to be completed 
prior to the 350th occupation.   

 
39. When the outline permission was granted on appeal, with the triggers 

included in the original S106 legal agreement, it was anticipated that 
development would start with Phase 1 at the northern part of the site, through 
which the bus route is proposed to run.  (An extract of the phasing plan is 
included at the end of this report).  However, due to land ownership issues 
development commenced within Phase 2 in the centre of the site, and the 
developers’ anticipated build order is for development to continue within 
Phases 2 and 3 within the central part of the site, before progressing to 
development in Phase 1, within which the main spine road providing the bus 
route through the site is located.  The anticipated build sequence is such that 
4 sub-phases within Phases 2 and 3 (labelled as 2B, 2C, 3B and 3C on the 
phasing plan) providing just under 175 dwellings would be commenced before 
development reaches Phase 1 in the northern part of the site.  As such the 
triggers related to the provision of works at the northern end of the site for 
Shamblehurst Lane North and the Bus Access Restrictor prior to the 150th 
occupation are not now in line with the anticipated build out, with the early 
occupations taking place in the centre of the site.  For ease of reference when 
looking at the phasing plan the approximate location of the Bus Access 
Restrictor would be at the southern end of the small sub-phase labelled as 
1A. 
 

67



40. In consultation with HCC it is considered that, due to the intended phasing of 
the development, the proposed amendments to the original triggers are 
acceptable in principle in relation to those works.   
 

41. There were concerns however about the knock-on effects these amendments 
would have on the timing of the provision of pedestrian and cycle links 
through the development to Hedge End station for both the residents of 
Boorley Gardens and existing residents of Boorley Green, including Boorley 
Park. 
 

42. It should be noted that the original S106 legal agreement does not include a 
specific obligation to provide a pedestrian and cycle route through the site by 
a specific time, although the plans approved at reserved matters stage for 
Phase 1 do show a segregated pedestrian and cycle route running along the 
main spine road running through the phase.   
 

43. In addition Schedule 12 of the original S106 legal agreement does require the 
developer to undertake necessary actions to enable the use of Botley 
Footpath No.1 by cyclists prior to first occupation, which is anticipated to be 
October 2022.  The developer has indicated that they intend to meet this 
obligation by giving permissive rights for cyclists to use the route as well as 
pedestrians.   
 

44. However, while the surface of the public right of way is to be improved with a 
financial contribution secured from the Boorley Park development, the 
intention is that this remains a leisure route.  As such, given the proposed 
changes to the triggers for the other works, it remains important to secure 
earlier provision of a specific pedestrian and cycle route.  The developer was 
therefore asked, and has agreed, to include an additional planning obligation 
to provide a pedestrian and cycle route from Winchester Road to 
Shamblehurst Lane North prior to the 200th occupation.  The obligation would 
also require the alignment of the route to be agreed as it is not currently 
known if it would follow the alignment of the permanent route approved at 
reserved matters stage or would need to be a temporary route.  
 

45. As mentioned above the original S106 legal agreement does not include a 
specific trigger for the provision of a pedestrian and cycle route through the 
site, and neither does it include a trigger for the provision of a useable bus 
route.  To strengthen the obligations and provide certainty as to when the bus 
route would be available, the developer was also asked, and has agreed, to 
amend the Deed of Variation to add in a planning obligation to provide a bus 
route and pedestrian and cycle route through the site from Winchester Road 
to Shamblehurst Lane North prior to the 350th occupation.  This obligation 
would relate to the provision of the permanent route, hence, in relation to the 
pedestrian and cycle route, it is in addition to the other new obligation as that 
could be met by a temporary route that is subsequently removed when the 
permanent route becomes available.   
 

46. HCC have approached bus operators and have confirmed that there appears 
to be demand for a bus route to run through the site.  There is no requirement 

68



in the existing S106 legal agreement for the development to fund the provision 
of a bus service for the site, only to provide infrastructure to enable a bus 
service to be routed through it.  As such any decision to run a bus route 
through the site would be a commercial decision for the operators.  Whilst a 
bus service would not operate through the site until after the 350th occupation 
under these proposals, it should be noted that the Bluestar 3 service currently 
runs along Winchester Road and through Boorley Park, with bus stops by the 
Pear Tree pub, at the Oatlands Road / Winchester Road junction and at the 
western end of Kingsman Drive in the Boorley Park development.  This bus 
service would be in walking distance for the residents of Boorley Gardens and 
provides a service to Southampton, Hedge End, Botley, Fair Oak and 
Eastleigh.  Train services from Hedge End station would also be in walking 
and cycling distance for residents, initially via the public right of way and 
subsequently via the specific pedestrian and cycle route.  It is considered 
therefore that the residents in the early stages of the development would still 
have access to public transport, prior to the permanent bus, pedestrian and 
cycle route through the site being provided, which would ultimately strengthen 
the opportunities for sustainable travel. 

 
47. Given the intended phasing of development across the site, which differs to 

that anticipated at the time the original S106 legal agreement was drafted, 
and with the additional obligations referred to above, it is considered that the 
proposed Deed of Variation is acceptable and would not have a significantly 
detrimental impact on the building out of the development, the provision of 
associated infrastructure, or its impact on the surrounding area, sustainable 
travel, or the local highway network.  The proposal is therefore considered to 
be in accordance with local plan policies.  There is no change to the extent of 
the previously secured infrastructure provision and improvements associated 
with the development, but some change to the timing of these elements to 
reflect the phasing of the development, together with new obligations to 
provide certainty over the timing of provision of the infrastructure required to 
support and encourage sustainable modes of transport. 
 
Sustainable development 
 

48. The NPPF seeks to achieve sustainable development, with three over-arching 
objectives – economic, social and environmental.  The outline application 
considered matters of sustainability.  The Secretary of State (SoS) concluded 
that the development was contrary to the then local plan, would harm the 
landscape and result in the loss of countryside, but there would be only very 
limited impact on views outside the site and its immediate surroundings.  In 
addition at the time of that decision, the Council was unable to demonstrate a 
5-year housing land supply and the SoS concluded development would bring 
substantial benefits in terms of additional open market and affordable 
housing, for which there were substantial shortfalls; green infrastructure; and 
improved pedestrian and cycle links and connectivity, including to the railway 
station.  As such the Secretary of State concluded that the proposals would 
amount to sustainable development.   
 

69



49. For the reasons set out above it is considered that the proposed Deed of 
Variation does not significantly alter the overall development proposals such 
that they affect the sustainability of the development.  The development would 
therefore be in accordance with the provisions of the NPPF. 

 
Climate Change 
 

50. In July 2019, the Council declared a Climate Change and Environmental 
Emergency. In doing so it agreed, among other things, to: (a) put in place 
measures to ensure the Council’s own operations and functions achieve 
carbon neutrality by 2025; (b) work with partners to aim for all projects and 
services delivered in the Borough to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030; (c) 
ensure that the Council’s procurement policy recognises carbon neutrality as 
one of its primary considerations; and (d) recognise the urgency of action to 
mitigate and adapt to climate change in every decision taken by the Council. 
This is underpinned by the Climate and Environment Emergency Strategy 
2020–2030 and the supporting Climate and Environmental Emergency Action 
Plan – Update June 2020. 
 

51. The declaration of the Climate Change and Environmental Emergency 
demonstrates a strong commitment from the Council to achieve net zero. The 
NPPF, development plan and adopted local plan policy do not set this as a 
specific target, but it is a material consideration to be considered alongside all 
other material considerations. In any case addressing climate change is a 
core part of the NPPF and local plan policy.  The need to support the 
economy is part of the Strategic Environmental Assessment for the adopted 
local plan, as is an assessment of climate impacts.  
 

52. The NPPF aims for the need for housing to be met, and policy S2 of the Local 
Plan sets a target for 14,580 dwellings to be provided by 2036. The NPPF, 
Policies S1, DM2 and DM3 of the Local Plan and energy and water elements 
of the adopted Environmentally Sustainable Development SPD require 
development to be sustainable in terms of resource use, climate change and 
energy use. When considering the impact of climate change, the proposed 
development is expected to be resilient to the potential effects of climate 
change and is expected to reduce/limit impacts on climate emissions as a 
result of the development or its use.  
 

Equalities Implications 
 
53. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. 

Section149 states: - 
 
 (1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to 

the need to: 
  (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 

conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 
  (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 

relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

70



(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
 When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the equality 
 duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups.  
 
54. It is considered that this application does not raise any equality implications. 
 
Conclusion 
 
55. The proposed Deed of Variation to amend the original S106 legal agreement 

is considered to be acceptable.  It would not alter the extent of development 
and the associated infrastructure but would alter the time by which some of 
these elements would need to be provided.  It is considered that given the 
anticipated phasing and build out sequence for the development these 
amendments, together with the two new obligations, would ensure the 
proposals would not have a significantly detrimental impact on the building out 
of the development, the provision of associated infrastructure, or its impact on 
the surrounding area, sustainable travel, or the local highway network.  It is 
therefore recommended that the proposed Deed of Variation be agreed. 

 
 
 
 

71



 

72



 

73



This page is intentionally left blank



 (HEWEB, Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee, 
19/09/2022) 
 
Application Number: H/22/92920 
Case Officer:  Alexandra Stone 
Received Date: 20/04/2022 
Site Address: 8 Chapel Close, West End, SO30 3FF 
Applicant: Zoe Green  
Proposal: Conversion of utility and single storey rear extension to 

create attached annex, new porch and raised patio to the 
rear 
 

Recommendation:  Permit  
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: GREE003 
Reason: In the interest of proper planning. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from 
the date of this decision. 
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 
 
3. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development hereby permitted shall match in type, colour and texture those 
used on the existing building. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship between the new 
development and the existing. 

 
4. The annexe hereby permitted shall only be used in conjunction with the 
existing dwelling or by a dependent relative of the occupiers of the existing 
dwelling and shall not be sold off, occupied or used as an independent unit of 
accommodation. 
Reason: The property is not suitable for sub-division into two separate 
dwellings. 
 
5. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until a 
minimum of 3 car parking spaces have been provided within the curtilage of 
the site and thereafter maintained and kept available. 
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of on site parking for the purpose 
of highway safety. 
 
6. Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (July 2021), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, 

75

Agenda Item 10



whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt 
with in a timely manner. 
 
7. Note to Applicant: This application has been flagged up as being near 
records of bats.  All bats and their roosts are protected by law in the UK.  Even 
though the roof will not be directly affected by the extension, the noise, 
vibrations and dust generated during construction could affect bats sleeping 
during the daytime. Workers must remain vigilant of the potential presence of 
bats, not obstruct their roosts or do anything that could cause harm to a bat. If 
bats or any signs of bats are found during construction, all work must stop 
immediately, and Natural England must be called. The Bat Conservation Trust 
website ( https://www.bats.org.uk/ ) explains why bats are protected and what 
to do if you find a bat at  https://www.bats.org.uk/advice/im-working-on-a-
building-with-bats/ive-found-a-bat-during-works. 
 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Report: 
 
1. This application has been referred to Committee because an EBC 
Councillor lives in close proximity. 
 
Site Characteristics and Character of the Locality 
 
2. The property is a three bedroom semi-detached house with an open 
gable roof. The dwelling has an attached rear lean-to conservatory with an 
outbuilding to the side of the garden.  
 
3. The property is predominantly surrounded by two storey semi-detached 
dwellings of similar designs and materials. However, there is some variation in 
the detailing of the external elevations. There is also a terrace of three 
bungalows to the immediate north east of the site, behind the main two storey 
houses  
 
4. There are three bungalows to the side of the dwelling.  
 
Description of Application 
 
5. This application is to convert the existing utility room into an annex, 
including the construction of a cross gable single storey rear extension.  
 
6. To replace the existing rear lean-to conservatory with a single storey 
rear extension using similar existing roof formation, attaching to the side of the 
proposed annex.  
 
7. This application is also to create a new front porch with a hipped roof 
and also add a patio area to the rear of the main dwelling but this would be 
within the parameters of permitted development would sit approx. 300mm 
above ground level.   
 

76

https://www.bats.org.uk/
https://www.bats.org.uk/advice/im-working-on-a-building-with-bats/ive-found-a-bat-during-works
https://www.bats.org.uk/advice/im-working-on-a-building-with-bats/ive-found-a-bat-during-works


 
 
Details 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
8. None 
 
Representations Received 
 
9. None 
 
 
Consultation Responses 
 
10. Parish – No Objection:  

The Planning & Highways Committee for West End Parish Council have no 
objection to this application, however they have asked that if this 
application were to be approved, that a condition of its approval would be 
that the extension not be used as a separate dwelling at any point in the 
future. 

 

11. Southern Water: 
It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the 
development site. Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction 
works, an investigation of the sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership 
before any further works commence on site. 
12. 

    Ecology Officer 
Although there are some slipped tiles which could create gaps for crevice 
roosting bats on the rear (north) elevation of the roof, I don’t think that this 
area will be affected by the proposals. The applicant should be made 
aware of these potential bat roost features in case they are planning to 
replace or repair the roof in the future, but for this application an 
informative should be sufficient.  

 
 
Policy Context and Designations Applicable to Site 

• Inside Built-up Area Boundary 

• Within Established Residential Area 

 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 
 
 
Development Management policies: 

13. The most relevant policies are: 
 
Strategic policies 

77



• S1 (Delivering sustainable development); 

• S2 (Approach to new development);  
 
Development Management policies: 

• DM1 (General criteria for new development); 

• DM11 (Nature conservation); 

• DM14 (Parking). 
 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
 
- Quality Places (November 2011); 
- Residential Parking Standards (January 2009); 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 

14. At national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ 
or the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in 
the determination of planning applications. The National Planning Policy 
Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the ‘Framework’) states that (as required by 
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of 
sustainable development unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 

 
National Planning Practice Guidance  
 

15. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the 
provisions and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the 
consideration and determination of planning applications.  

 
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background 
 

16. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a Local 
Planning Authority determining an application to do so in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
The Development Plan comprises the Saved Policies of the Eastleigh 
Borough Adopted Local Plan 2016-2036 and the Hampshire Minerals 
and Waste Plan 2013 (which is not applicable in this case).  The NPPF 
and the Planning Practice Guidance constitute material considerations of 
significant weight. 

 
Principle:  
 

17. The development is within the urban edge where the principle of 
development is acceptable. 

78



18. As set out in policy DM1, development should not have an 
unacceptable impact on, and where possible should enhance 
residential amenities of both new and existing residents, the character 
and appearance of urban areas, the countryside, and the coast.  

 
Design and layout: 

19. The design of the single storey rear extension are suited to the host 
dwelling in terms of their form, scale and appearance.  

20. The development would not be an overdevelopment of the site, would 
retain sufficient amenity space and meet parking standards.  

21. The design and layout respect the character and appearance of the 
locality. The front porch is of similar design to the adjacent property, 
therefore in-keeping within the close.  

22. The rear extension would remain unseen from the principal elevation.  
The development is only at single-storey level which will limit its overall 
presence, especially with boundary treatment screening a direct view.   

23. The conservatory is being replaced with single storey rear extension, 
set away from the neighbouring property and is a modest addition. 

24. The annexe is proposed with a linking door the main dwelling with only 
a rear external door.  The annexe has limited separate provision and 
proposes a small kitchenette, showering facility and small living space 
with bedroom.  It is considered that with this space, the occupant would 
still rely on the main household for socialising and sharing some meals 
together.  A condition will also be placed to ensure the space is only 
used in conjunction with the existing dwelling or by a dependent relative 
of the occupiers of the existing dwelling and shall not be sold off, 
occupied or used as an independent unit of accommodation. 

 

Residential Amenity: 

 

25. The development accords with guidance set out in the ‘Quality Places’ 
SPD in that there will be no unacceptable impact on the amenity of the 
neighbouring properties in terms of loss of privacy, light or outlook.  

26. The proposed extension and annex will not result in an unacceptable 
impact on neighbouring dwellings through overlooking, loss of light 
and loss of outlook. 

27. A side window is proposed on the east side towards no. 9 This 
additional window would serve the bathroom which is likely to be 
obscure glazed (can be conditioned if ness.  There is a roof light which 
is above average head height so is not expected to cause unacceptable 
overlooking and would only overlook public frontage of neighbouring 
bungalows.   

79



 

 

 

 

Access and Parking Matters: 

 

28. The proposed extension and annex would mean there is a 
requirement for an addition parking space on site in accordance with 
the Residential Parking Standards SPD. If approval is granted, the 
dwelling would have 4.no bedrooms, 3.no parking spaces will be 
required minimum.   

29. There is ample space within the curtilage of the dwelling house to 
accommodate this. This will be supported by a condition to ensure the 
parking spaces are implemented before the development is bought 
into use.   

 

 

Sustainability Measures and Climate Change: 
 

30. In July 2019, the Council declared a Climate Change and Environmental 
Emergency. In doing so it agreed, among other things, to: (a) put in place 
measures to ensure the Council’s own operations and functions achieve 
carbon neutrality by 2025; (b) work with partners to aim for all projects 
and services delivered in the Borough to achieve carbon neutrality by 
2030; (c) ensure that the Council’s procurement policy recognises carbon 
neutrality as one of its primary considerations; and (d) recognise the 
urgency of action to mitigate and adapt to climate change in every 
decision taken by the Council. This is underpinned by the Climate and 
Environment Emergency Strategy 2020–2030 and the supporting 
Climate and Environmental Emergency Action Plan – Update June 2020. 

  

31. The declaration of the Climate Change and Environmental Emergency 

demonstrates a strong commitment from the Council to achieve net zero. 

The NPPF, development plan and adopted local plan policy do not set 

this as a specific target, but it is a material consideration to be considered 

alongside all other material considerations. In any case addressing 

climate change is a core part of the NPPF and local plan policy.  The 

need to support the economy is part of the Strategic Environmental 

Assessment for the adopted local plan, as is an assessment of climate 

impacts. 

 

 
Other material considerations 
 

80



32. There will be no adverse impact upon trees or other natural features 
worthy of retention. 

33. There are no likely significant impacts on the SPA. 
 
Equalities Implications: 
 

34. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality 
duty. Section149 states:- 

- A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 
regard to the need to: 

a. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and 
any other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 

b. advance equality of opportunity between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons 
who do not share it; 

c. foster good relations between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not 
share it. 

 
35. When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the 

equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups. 
It is considered that this application does not raise any equality 
implications. 

 

Conclusion 
 

36. The proposed porch would be in-keeping in the street scene as similar 
in design to neighbouring properties.The rear extensions are a modest 
addition to the main dwelling house. The annex is accessed through the 
main house and so will function as part of the existing property.  

 
The application is recommended for permission as it accords with the 
development plan. 
 
 

81



  

82


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	8 Planning Application - Holly Tree Farm, Maddoxford Lane, Botley, Southampton, SO32 2DB
	9 Planning Application - Land North West of Winchester Road, Boorley Green, Hampshire, SO32 2BX
	10 Planning Application - 8 Chapel Close, West End, SO30 3FF

